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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Dear Shareholders,

OVERVIEW

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Computer And
Technologies Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the unaudited interim results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the six months ended 30 June 2024.

During the reporting period, the Group maintained total revenue of
HK$127.6 million (2023: HK$128.1 million) while the market sentiment
remained subdued. Benefiting from migrating some of the development
resources to the Mainland China with a more effective cost structure,
gross profit improved by HK$1.3 million, or 2.0%, to HK$69.0 million (2023:
HK$67.6 million), and the gross profit margin improved to 54.1% (2023:
52.8%).

On the other hand, the Group’s other income and gains decreased by
HK$0.4 million to HK$7.6 million (2023: HK$8.1 million), primarily due to a
reduction in refunds of value-added tax (“VAT"). Additionally, the Group’s
investment property and financial assets recorded a valuation loss of
HK$1.2 million, compared with a HK$0.5 million loss in the same period
last year, reflecting the prevailing market conditions.

The Group’s consolidated net profit attributable to shareholders was
maintained at HK$18.2 million (2023: HK$18.2 million). Resulting from
shares repurchased over the period, the basic earnings per share
increased to 7.46 HK cents (2023: 7.38 HK cents).

Considering the Group’s positive cash flows from operations and
sustained healthy financial position, the Board has declared an interim
dividend of 5.5 HK cents per ordinary share for the six months ended 30
June 2024, same as the 5.5 HK cents paid in the previous period.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Application Software

The unfavourable market condition causing enterprise customers to
slowdown hiring or even reduce headcounts during the reporting period.
As a result, the Group’s Human Resources Management Software’s
("HRMS") license income which is based on existing and increasing
number of employees’ payroll supported by the system was declined.
In addition, the market shift from on premises software license to
Software as a Service (“SaaS”) also created a short term impact on license
income. On the other hands, benefiting from the increasing concern on
environmental, social, and governance (“ESG”) especially in corporate
governance, there was increasing demand for the Group’s Enterprise
Procurement Management Software (“EPMS”) delivered in form of
SaaS. In addition, the new wave in application of generative Artificial
Intelligence (“Al") also created increasing enquiries and opportunities for
the Group’s related technologies.

The Group has been continuously investing into product research and
development to rebuild its software products portfolio with cloud
native platform and integration with new Al applications. Pi-HCM, a
revolutionary Human Capital Management (“HCM") software based on
cloud native platform, was launched earlier this year with strong positive
feedback. While the Group’s Application Software!" business maintains
a steady stream of recurring revenue from software annuity within its
existing customer base, the new product launched will help the Group to
capture additional businesses from both existing and new customers in
the region.

The Group’s HRMS business in Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“HKSAR") continued to capitalise on persistent demand from
existing customers for version upgrades as well as additional software
and services. However, the order pipeline from new customers that had
carried over from the prior year declined, resulting in lower professional
service revenue and an overall decrease in revenue and profit
contribution to the Group during the reporting period. The performance
of the HRMS business in Mainland China was also affected by the weak
market sentiment, resulting in a revenue decline compared to the prior
year. Nevertheless, the launch of the new HCM product will stimulate new
market demand and version upgrades momentum from existing HRMS
customers.
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Chairman'’s Statement (continued)

EFEHEE)

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Application Software (continued)

The Group’s Enterprise Software (“ES”) businesses achieved material
profit growth overall. Benefiting from the expedited efforts to improve
project delivery effectiveness, the ES businesses continued to enhance
performance in the first half of the year. In particular, the EPMS business
showed double-digit revenue growth and made substantial profit
contributions to the Group. The increasing focus of various enterprises on
ESG initiatives has led to higher demand for governance, compliance and
automation of procurement processes. During the reporting period, the
EPMS business grew its recurring SaaS and maintenance income by more
than 29% year-over-year. The business also acquired several material
deals, including one of the largest HKSAR government authorities and
various new customers in the education and commercial sectors.

The stable recurring maintenance income and continuous demand for
digital transformation, secured information repositories, and compliance
initiatives enabled the Enterprise Information Management Software
(“EIMS”) business to enhance its profit contribution to the Group. On
the other hand, the Enterprise Retail Management Software (“ERMS")
business reported lower revenue compared to the same period last
year due to the weak market sentiment in the retail industry. However,
through stepped-up management efforts to streamline the operation
structure, the ERMS business managed to contribute improved profit to
the Group.

As a new technology arm specialising in Al and Natural Language
Processing (“NLP”), CISC Limited led the Group to win a significant cyber-
monitoring solution project from the public sector during the reporting
period. The Group is also actively exploring new application domains for
Al and NLP technologies, not limited to the public sector but extending
to areas such as procurement, finance, and construction.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Solutions and Integration Services

The Group’s Solutions and Integration Services business delivered
revenue growth during the reporting period, with total revenue reaching
HK$56.5 million (2023: HK$51.6 million). This business has maintained
stable recurring revenue and profit contributions to the Group. Moreover,
it has demonstrated strong resilience to market conditions and achieved
enhanced operational performance, as evidenced by the achievement of
better results compared to the previous period.

The Customer Care and Billing System (“CCBS”) project of the Managed
Services? business continued to contribute good recurring revenue
during the reporting period. Several new enhancement projects were
signed with the CCBS during the first half of the year, which contributed
additional revenue source to the business. Sustainable professional
services and maintenance income continued to be generated from the
Group's key enterprise customers, including several enterprise customers
in the finance, property management, transport and utility industries as
well as various government departments of the HKSAR.

During the reporting period, the Group’s Solutions business successfully
secured several material new projects from various HKSAR government
departments. The business team has also established a good foundation
and technical expertise in the security risk and privacy impact review and
assessment domains, through increasing participation in related projects
in both the public and private sectors. The management expects this
business opportunity to grow significantly, given the increasing concerns
of various organisations around cybersecurity and data privacy protection
issues.

The performance of the Integration Services® business in Mainland China
was also improved compared to the same period last year.

e-Service and related business

The GETS™ business of the Group experienced a single digit growth
in revenue, with improved profit contribution to the Group’s overall
performance. The business effectively navigated the challenges
presented by the market conditions and was able to increase its market
share during the reporting period.
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Chairman'’s Statement (continued)

EFEHEE)

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Investments

As for the Investments segment, its asset position decreased. This
was because the Group had disposed of office premises in the PRC
to an independent third party for a consideration of RMB2.6 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$2.8 million) in early 2024. Moreover, the
unfavourable market conditions and high interest rate environment had
a negative impact on the valuations of the Group’s remaining investment
property and financial assets, leading to downward adjustments of
HKS$1.2 million (2023: HKS0.5 million). As a result, the Investments
segment recorded a loss of HK$0.4 million for the reporting period,
compared to a profit of HK$0.5 million in the prior period.

PROSPECT

The economies of the HKSAR and Mainland China are anticipated to
continue on a slow path of post-pandemic recovery in the second half
of 2024, but the prospects remain highly uncertain due to the adverse
impact of a prolonged high interest rate environment on business
activities, as well as developments in the geopolitical situation.

Amidst this challenging operating environment, the management
believes the business momentum will gradually accelerate with its
strengthened go-to-market initiatives. Furthermore, with an enhanced
software product portfolio featuring a cloud-native architecture, the
Group is confident in bolstering its Saa$S offerings and driving growth in
recurring revenue.

The Group’s Solutions business aims to increase its participation in
innovation, technology development, and smart city initiatives of the
HKSAR government, leveraging its technical expertise, project experience,
and the flexible scaling of resources enabled by the Group’s technical
resource center in the Greater Bay Area. Additionally, by strengthening
its business development and consolidating resources in managed
infrastructure, cloud, and security services, the business also aims to
penetrate more key enterprises, positioning itself as a trusted information
technology partner in domains such as digital transformation,
automation, cybersecurity, cyber-monitoring, and artificial intelligence.
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PROSPECT (CONTINUED)

The Group would also dedicate additional management attention to look
into mergers and acquisitions opportunities that can complement or
expand our existing operations, as well as further our market expansion
beyond HKSAR and Mainland China (such as in ASEAN countries).

Footnotes:

m The Group’s Application Services business engages in the provision of
application software and e-business services for enterprises including (i)
the provision of enterprise application software (including SaaS product
offering) with implementation and ongoing support services for Human
Resource Management, Enterprise Procurement Management, Enterprise
Information Management and Enterprise Retail Management (collectively
the “Application Software”); and (ii) the Government Electronic Trading
Services (“GETS"), cloud services and other related value-added services
(collectively the “e-Service and related business”).

@ The Group's Solutions and Integration Services business includes (i)
Development Services for the provision of IT solutions implementation and
application software development (including SaaS product offering); (ii)
Managed Services for the provision of IT and related operation/infrastructure
outsourcing services; and (iii) Integration Services for the provision of IT
systems and network infrastructure with related design, implementation and
ongoing support services.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and gross profit

The Group’s total revenue was slightly reduced by HK$0.5 million, or
0.4%, to HK$127.6 million (2023: HK$128.1 million) during the reporting
period. This minor decrease was primarily caused by a reduction in the
Application Services business, however the fall was partially recovered by
a growth in the Solutions Services business.

The cost of sales and services decreased by HK$1.9 million, or 3.1%, to
HK$58.6 million (2023: HK$60.5 million). This reduction was mainly due to
the saving in staff costs.

As a result of the lower operating costs, the overall gross profit improved
by HK$1.3 million, or 2.0%, to HK$69.0 million (2023: HK$67.6 million).
The gross profit margin also improved from 52.8% in the prior period to
54.1% in the current reporting period.
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Chairman'’s Statement (continued)

EFEHEE)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Non-operating incomes and gains, net (included other income and
gains, net, foreign exchange differences, net and fair value losses,
net)

The other income and gains, net dropped by HK$0.4 million, or 5.2%, to
HK$7.6 million (2023: HK$8.1 million). This decrease was mainly due to a
reduction in the VAT refund during the reporting period.

The prolonged high interest rate environment and unfavourable market
sentiments in the real estate and financial markets had turned the
valuation of the Group’s investment property and financial assets in a
sinking condition. Consequently, a downward fair value adjustment of
HK$1.2 million (2023: HK$0.5 million) was recorded during the reporting
period.

Operation expenses (including selling and distribution expenses,
general and administrative expenses, net, finance cost and other
expenses)

The strengthening of the sales and marketing team and the increasing
investment in the marketing activities led to a HK$1.3 million, or 8.2%,
increase in selling and distribution expenses to HK$17.6 million (2023:
HK$16.2 million).

Relatively, the general and administrative expenses (including finance
cost) were streamlined, resulting in saving of HK$1.6 million, or 4.9%, to
HK$30.8 million (2023: HK$32.4 million).

As the local assessable profits increased, the income tax expense also
rose compared to the same period last year.

Net profit

The profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders remained stable
at HK$18.2 million, consistent with the prior period’s figure. Additionally,
the net profit margin, calculated as the profit for the period attributable
to shareholders divided by total revenue, was also maintained at 14.2%,
unchanged from the previous period.

Non-current assets

The non-current assets rose modestly by HK$3.0 million, or 1.2%, reaching
HK$249.6 million (31 December 2023: HK$246.6 million). This uptick was
primarily attributable to the net effect of a few key factors. First, there
was ongoing amortisation of the Group’s other intangible assets. Second,
some investment properties were disposed of and the valuation of on-
hand properties were adjusted downward. Lastly, the Group entered into
several new rental agreements, leading to a rise in right-of-use assets and
deposits.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Current assets

The current assets slightly grew by HK$8.7 million, or 2.1%, to HK$416.6
million (31 December 2023: HK$407.9 million). This change was the
result of an increase in trade receivables, contract assets and deposits
paid, offset by a decrease in cash and cash equivalents following the
distribution of the 2023 final dividend in June.

Current liabilities and non-current liabilities

The Group’s current and non-current liabilities climbed by HK$12.2
million, or 8.2%, to HK$160.7 million (31 December 2023: HK$148.5
million). This change was largely attributable to the growth in lease
liabilities arising from the Group’s newly signed rental agreements and
the tax payable resulting from the profits tax charged.

Segment assets and liabilities

The segment assets of the Applications Services business decreased.
This was due to amortisation of other intangible assets as well as drops
in trade receivables and contract assets. Correspondingly, the segment
liabilities of Applications Services also declined, in line with the decrease
in lease liabilities.

In contrast, the segment assets of the Solutions and Integration Services
business increased, driven by growth in both trade receivables and
contract assets. The segment liabilities for this business rose as well,
primarily due to an increase in trade and other payables.

Regarding the Investments segment, its asset position dropped as some
properties were disposed of and the deflated valuation of the on-hand
property and financial assets further reduced the value.

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
The Group's total equity attributable to owners of the parent remained

relatively stable, maintaining a balance of HK$504.3 million (31 December
2023: HK$504.7 million) without any material change.
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Chairman'’s Statement (continued)

EFEHEE)

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the period under review. The Group strives to reduce
exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity
risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had pledged an investment property with
a fair value of HK$61.0 million (31 December 2023: HK$62.0 million), listed
equity securities of HK$2.0 million (31 December 2023: HK$2.2 million)
and bank balances of HK$0.6 million (31 December 2023: HK$0.5 million)
to secure certain general bank facilities including guarantee/performance
bonds facilities granted to the Group/subsidiaries of the Company in
aggregate of HK$111.8 million (31 December 2023: HK$111.9 million) of
which HK$21.5 million (31 December 2023: HK$21.1 million) were utilised
as at 30 June 2024.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 30 June 2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were HK$305.6
million (31 December 2023: HK$316.1 million).

All of the Group’s on hand fundings are in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi
and US dollars. The Group has not adopted any hedging policies, as these
currencies carry relatively low exchange fluctuation risks. Nevertheless,
the Group had been monitoring the foreign exchange exposures closely
and hedging any significant foreign currency exposure in order to
minimise the exchange risk should the needs arose.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had no bank borrowings (31 December
2023: Nil). The Group’s current ratio representing current assets divided
by current liabilities was 3.0 (31 December 2023: 3.0) and the gearing
ratio, representing total liabilities divided by total assets, was 24.1% (31
December 2023: 22.7%).
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REMUNERATION POLICY AND NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
working experience and prevailing market conditions. Apart from basic
salary, discretionary bonus and other incentives are offered to employees
of the Group to reward their performance and contributions.

The remuneration policies adopted for the six months ended 30 June
2024 are consistent with those disclosed in the Group’s 2023 Annual
Report. As at 30 June 2024, the Group employed 341 full time employees
and 11 part time employees (31 December 2023: 343 full time employees
and 12 part time employees).

As at 30 June 2024, the Company operates a share award scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the employees who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations as well as to retain
them for the continual development of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed in the report, the Group had no significant investments
held as at 30 June 2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

Saved as disclosed in the report, the Group did not have any material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries during the period and up to the
date of this report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no specific plan for material investments or capital assets as at
30 June 2024.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in the report, the Group has no material contingent
liabilities as at 30 June 2024.

—EERHRE [N AGEEERAR

Chairman’s Statement (continued)
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Chairman'’s Statement (continued)

ETE®EE

INTERIM DIVIDEND

The Board declared the payment of an interim dividend of HK$0.055 (2023:
an interim dividend of HK$0.055) per ordinary share for the six months
ended 30 June 2024.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday,
4 September 2024 to Thursday, 5 September 2024, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for the interim dividend, all transfers of shares accompanied by
the relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited,
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 3 September 2024. The
dividend will be distributed on or about Thursday, 19 September 2024
to shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members of the
Company on Thursday, 5 September 2024.

APPRECIATIONS

On behalf of the Board and the management, | would like to express our
sincere thanks to all employees, shareholders, customers and business
partners for their supports to the Group during the reporting period.

By order of the Board

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited
Ng Cheung Shing

Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 August 2024
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
4R EIEER

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Computer And Technologies F®IBtZGEBER R A ([ARAA])EEE
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) herein presents the unaudited ([EEg])ZBWEFARRLKENEAR (4
interim condensed consolidated results of the Company and its I AEEHE-_T_MNF A =1TH1t
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the six months ended 30 June N1 A 2 A K& B XA GA P HEEER
2024, together with the comparative figures. These unaudited interim  ELEE T o th H R K E LSRRG A P EIZELS
condensed consolidated results have been reviewed by the Company’s BB AQAREZEZELEH -

audit committee.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT EHHSsEEER

ORLOSS
For the six months ended 30 June
BZEAB=1+RHILLAEA
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEERZ) (REFEZ)
Notes HKS’000 HKS’000
it FET FET
REVENUE WA 5 127,567 128,102
Cost of sales and services SHE MR (58,616) (60,473)
Gross profit EF 68,951 67,629
Other income and gains, net H AU A R iy a5 5 58 5 7,644 8,066
Foreign exchange differences, net PE 3 Z R 58 403 (26)
Fair value losses, net: N EEIEFERE
Financial assets at fair value through BATELERAR
profit or loss L UBEE (243) (501)
Investment property HEMEE (1,000) -
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HEAX (17,555) (16,232)
General and administrative expenses, net — RAITB S F R (30,325) (32,160)
Finance cost B8 R 7 (438) (191)
Other expenses H (6,673) (6,726)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB RS R 6 20,764 19,859
Income tax expense Frig R < 8 (2,721) (1,853)
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 7 HA B8 3% Fl 18,043 18,006
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: LR AL :
Owners of the parent ISYNECIEFEDN 18,166 18,237
Non-controlling interests IR (123) (231)
18,043 18,006
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREBERRREMN
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF BREF HK cents HK cents
THE PARENT 10 B BN
Basic HA 7.46 7.38
Diluted s 7.42 7.35
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BRGE2ERER

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tTRIEAEA

2024 2023
—E-EF —E=F
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REBEX) (RE&E=Z)
HK$’000 HK$000
FETT FET
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD REARBER 18,043 18,006
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) HftZE WA~ (&18)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that RAEZERE  Haa2mik A (E5i8)
may be reclassified to profit or loss in AREEM O EEER R
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of REBINEBREEZELEZRE
foreign operations (1,081) 134
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME REE 2 E WA B
FOR THE PERIOD 16,962 18,140
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: T AR :
Owners of the parent [SYNCIEFS PN 17,085 18,371
Non-controlling interests FEF I M R A (123) (231)
16,962 18,140
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BRZE S MBI R

30 June 31 December
2024 2023
—EMNE —T-=F
ANB=+H +ZA=+—H
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEER) (E&E=Z)
Notes HKs$’000 HKSs000
k=3 FET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - WE L&A 11 1,264 1,031
Investment properties LA 12 61,000 64,838
Right-of-use assets CRREE 13(a) 20,550 7,986
Goodwill BES 14 135,001 135,001
Other intangible assets Hinm&E 15 25,619 32,292
Financial assets at fair value through BATELERAKRZ
profit or loss — debt investment WBEE—EBIRE 18 2,100 2,100
Deposits i a 1,853 657
Deferred tax assets FRIETIEE B 21 2,239 2,715
Total non-current assets ERBEEREA 249,626 246,620
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 12 14
Trade receivables FEUE SRR 16 38,525 36,705
Contract assets BREE 17 42,459 29,338
Prepayments, deposits and other FENRIE - Ze R
receivables H b W sk IE 18,519 14,929
Tax recoverable AR = T 1A 8,918 8,085
Financial assets at fair value through BAFELER AR
profit or loss - listed equity investments & &E — FTRAKRE 18 1,963 2,206
Pledged bank deposits EEMBITHER 553 466
Cash and cash equivalents RehkERBECEE 305,633 316,145
Total current assets REEERE 416,582 407,888
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables, other payables and ENE SRR - EMER
accruals RIA N e IR 19 67,119 68,657
Contract liabilities BREE 20 51,696 52,143
Lease liabilities HEBE 13(b) 4,600 6,267
Tax payable FE#HR 18 13,432 9,468
Total current liabilities mENAEEE 136,847 136,535
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFRE 279,735 271,353
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBEE
LIABILITIES 529,361 517,973

—EERHRE [N AGEEERAR




Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

ERREMBRRR(E)

30 June 31 December
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
ANAB=+H +ZA=+—8H
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEER) (EE=Z)
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
i3 FETT FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Contract liabilities AHEaE 20 863 1,397
Lease liabilities HEBE 13(b) 17,045 2,889
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 21 5,968 7,688
Total non-current liabilities ERBAERAE 23,876 11,974
Net assets BEFE 505,485 505,999
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of BAREEAELESR
the parent
Issued capital BEITRA 24,495 24,702
Share premium account %17 ' B R 42,602 47,147
Shares held under the restricted share BIE B R I A0 2B 5T &)
award scheme BEZRHD (4,311) (5,454)
Other reserves Hith & 441,487 424,776
Proposed final dividend BOR R BRI B - 13,493
504,273 504,664
Non-controlling interests FEPESI M 1,212 1,335
Total equity HRRE 505,485 505,999
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BEEESCY i IES

Attributable to owners of the parent

SRAEE AR
Other reserves
A
Shares held
under the
restricted Share- Proposed
Share share based Exchange final and Non-
Issued  premium award  payment  Goodwil Reserve fluctuation  Retained special controlling Total
capital account scheme reserve reserve funds reserve profits ~ dividends Total  interests equity
it
BRH
R EB
BEfT Bh o EsE  RGAR B B EXRD 78 REAH P i s

kx aEE ZBG e #h L33 G EH RAERE 5% s #8
HSO00 RSO0 HKSO0D  HKSO0D  HKSOOD  HKSODD  AKSOMO HKSUD HKSUO  HKSOD  HKSOO  HKSOMD
FET  TET  TEr  TET  7ET  TET  TAr  TET  TET  TET TEr AT

At 1 January 2023 (audited) RZF==F-f-B(L=H) 24949 53,104 (6,204) 5455 (7.220) 746 (3,189) 423133 30882 521,649 1442 523,091
Profitfor the period REEER - - - - - - - Y1) ®) 18006
Other comprehensive income for the period: ~ ANEARIE (12 EMA «
Exchange differences on translation REBISBRELL
offoreign operations EXZR - - - - - - 134 - - 134 - 134
Total comprehensive incomefor the period ~ AERI2 AU A £8 - - - - - - 134 18237 - 18371 231 18140
Purchase of shares held under the restricted ~ EE AR A1k 7 BB AT
share award scheme &3 - - (400) - - - - - - (400) - (400)
Vesting of shares held under the restricted IR IR (A ZB EET
share award scheme k5 - - 1880 (1,880) - - - - - - - -
Share award arrangements REDRH - - - 677 - - - - - 677 - 677
Final and special 2022 dividends declared ~ ER=T=ZERB R
RE - - - - - - - () (3088) (30909 - (30909
At30 June 2023 (unaudited) RZBZ=%7A=1R
(RBEH) U919 53104 (4724) 42 (1227) 74 (3055 441383 - 509388 1200 510599
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

AR RSB R(E)

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRRERAEE
Other reserves
Ak
Shares held
under the
restricted Share-
Share share based Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued  premium award  payment  Goodwill  Reserve fluctuation  Retained final controlling Total
capital  account  scheme reserve reserve funds reserve profits  dividend Total interests equity
it
ERH
Rt%R
BEf R HERE REAR L fE  EXRD 8  REAH Faa i

Bx  BEE 2kf e Ei g2 e B B 3] it 48
HKSO00  HKSO00  KKSO0O  KKSOOO  KKSOOO  HKSO00  HKSU0D  HKSUOD  HKSUOD  HKSUOD  HKSUO0  HKSUOO
TEr  FEr  TEx  TEr FEx TEx TEr TEx  FEx  TEr  TEr  TEx

At1January 2024 (audited) RZB-ME-5-B
(&%5) 700 47047 (5454) 5063 (7.227) 76 (3162) 429356 13493 504,664 1335 505999
Profitfor the period RHEEA - - - - - - - 18166 - 18166 (13) 18043

Other comprehensive income for the period:  AHEEM2 AR :
Exchange differences on translation of BEBNEBRELZ

foreign operations EXZE - - - - - - (1,081) - - (1,081) - (1,081)
Total comprehensive income forthe period ~ AHE2HRAAE - - - - - - (1,081) 18,166 - 17,085 (123 16962
Vesting of shares held under therestricted ~ BRHKHREHHET
share award scheme REER - - 118 (1143) - - - - - - - -
Share award arrangements RORBRH - - - 642 - - - - - 642 - 642
Final 2023 dividend declared ER-F-=FRERE - - - - - - - 127 (13493)  (13366) - (13,366)
Shares repurchased Bk (207 (4545) - - - - - - - (4,752) - (4752)
At30 June 2024 (unaudited) RZE-MERA=TA
(REEHK) WA95 42602 (4311) 4562 (722]) 6 (4283) 447,649 - 54m 1212 505,485
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
kaqwlaiﬁéémﬁ%%E

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=TRLEAMEA

2024 2023
—BINF —E-=F
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REER) (REEZ)
Notes HK$’000 HKS$000
sz FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES & EEBFEB2EESRE
Profit before tax BR3¢ A& A 20,764 19,859
Adjustments for: FEEEE o
Finance cost BBER 7 438 191
Bank interest income RITHBHA 5 (7,236) (6,892)
Dividend income from listed investments BAFELSERARZ £
at fair value through profit or loss RERSBA 5 (98) (142)
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWZE - BFEREHBER
plant and equipment, net ZWa g 6 - (6)
Fair value losses, net: RN EBEFE
Financial assets at fair value through BATELEZAR M
profit or loss BEE 243 501
Investment property BEWME 1,000 -
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERSEINE
equipment 6 313 348
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRREEEZFE 6 4,045 3,958
Impairment of trade receivables, net FEN B 5 IR TR (B 58 6 394 902
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hin g el 6 6,673 6,726
Equity-settled share-based payment Wi E AR 2 AR
expense 642 677
Gain on lease modifications HEET 2= 6 (57) -
27,121 26,122
Decrease in inventories FERD 2 -
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEWE SRR,/ (38 ) (2,182) 19,121
Increase in prepayments, deposits and BRHRIE - Re REMERR
other receivables B8N (4,786) (418)
Increase in contract assets BHEELN (13,121) (15,714)
Decrease in trade payables, BB SRR - EtbENKIE
other payables and accruals R FERT SR IR R, D (1,538) (10,721)
Decrease in contract liabilities EHEERD (981) (263)
Cash generated from operations REEBMERS 4,515 18,127
Hong Kong profits tax paid, net BHEBNETFE (906) (805)
Overseas taxes refunded RENGIMIEIR 16 107
Net cash flows from operating activities RETPMB2RENEFR 3,625 17,429
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

HRGERERER(E)

For the six months ended 30 June

BEANA=TRLEAMEA

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEEX) (REEZ)
HKs’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Net cash flows from operating activities REFHMECRENEFE 3,625 17,429
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZBFB2HERE
Bank interest received BUERTTHIE 7,236 6,892
Dividends received from listed investments R A FELIEZ AR 2 Ehi%
at fair value through profit or loss EREMA 98 142
Purchases of items of property, BEWE BELHEERE
plant and equipment (555) (273)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property,  HEWE - BiE LR IEER
plant and equipment FTi5 k18 - 6
Proceeds from disposal of an investment HE—BREMEMBGHIEA
property 2,838 -
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposits B &R 1T FF0R L/ (#2hn) (87) 259
Increase in non-pledged bank deposits WENRISHABB=EAZ
with original maturity of more than EEARIRITE UG
three months when acquired (870) (58,587)
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing REZHME/ (1A 28R
activities MEER 8,660 (51,561)
CASH FLOWS FROM IN FINANCING METBRBZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of shares held under the 15 B BB HI 0 =BT 2118
restricted share award scheme THH - (400)
Shares repurchased ARl a0 (4,752) -
Principal portion of lease payments HENTH RS E D (4,077) (4,294)
Dividend paid BERRE (13,366) (30,909)
Interest paid B2ATAE (438) (191)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BIEEEFTA 2R ERE
H (22,633) (35,794)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RehSRAREEEZHD
EQUIVALENTS =20 (10,348) (69,926)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning  H#IZIR e R ERBEEE
of period 81,176 210,969
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [ER & ) v &/ 2 %58
net (1,034) 179
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSATEND IR CHERERBESEE
OF PERIOD 69,794 141,222
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

HRGERERER(E)

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=TRLEAMEA

2024 2023
—E-ME —TZ=F
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEEX) (REEZ)
HKs’000 HKS'000
FET FET
ANALYSIS OF BALANCESOF CASHAND R&ERERBRLEEL L
CASH EQUIVALENTS 2
Cash and cash equivalents as stated AR A M IEAR R RFTIR 2
in the condensed consolidated RENERRESEE
statement of financial position 305,633 298,613
Non-pledged bank deposits with WiER R SR BB =MA
original maturity of more than ZEERIRITER
three months when acquired (235,839) (157,391)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated AL EHERNERIRZ
in the condensed consolidated RekERBESEE
statement of cash flows 69,794 141,222
ZEZFREBRE | R ERERARAR




Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS AR AR B T

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office of the
Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company
during the reporting period was located at Level 10, Cyberport 2,
100 Cyberport Road, Hong Kong. Subsequent to the end of the
reporting period, the principal place of business of the Company
has been relocated to 18™ Floor, Viva Place, No. 36 Heung Yip Road,
Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong.

During the period, the Group was involved in the following principal
activities:

. provision of enterprise application software and e-business
services for enterprises including the provision of enterprise
application software (including Software as a Service (“SaaS”)
product offering) with implementation and ongoing support
services; the Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS"),
cloud services and other related value-added services;

. provision of information technology (“IT") solutions
implementation and application software development
(including SaaS product offering); provision of IT and related
operation/infrastructure outsourcing services; and provision
of IT systems and network infrastructure with related design,
implementation and ongoing support services; and

. property and treasury investments.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The interim condensed consolidated financial information of the
Group for the six months ended 30 June 2024 has been prepared in
accordance with the applicable provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and Hong Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS") 34 Interim
Financial Reporting issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA”).

The interim condensed consolidated financial information does not
include all the information and disclosures required in the annual
financial statements, and should be read in conjunction with the
Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the interim
condensed consolidated financial information are consistent with
those applied in the preparation of the Group’s annual consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, except
for the adoption of the following revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) for the first time for the current
period’s financial information.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7

The nature and impact of the revised HKFRSs are described below:

(@) Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in
a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates
to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate occurring from the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

P ERRMFE(E)

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a
liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of a
liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from
a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months after
the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded that the
classification of its liabilities as current or non-current remained
unchanged upon initial application of the amendments.
Accordingly, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements
in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial
statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure
to liquidity risk. The disclosure of relevant information for
supplier finance arrangements is not required for any interim
reporting period during the first annual reporting period in
which an entity applies the amendments. As the Group does
not have supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did
not have any impact on the interim condensed consolidated
financial information.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has three reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@) the application services segment that primarily engages in the
provision of enterprise application software and e-business
services for enterprises including the provision of enterprise
application software (including SaaS product offering) with
implementation and ongoing support services; the GETS, cloud
services and other related value-added services;

(b) the solutions and integration services segment that primarily
engages in the provision of IT solutions implementation and
application software development (including SaaS product
offering); provision of IT and related operation/infrastructure
outsourcing services; and provision of IT systems and network
infrastructure with related design, implementation and
ongoing support services; and

(c) the investments segment that primarily engages in various
types of investing activities including, inter alia, property
investment for rental income and/or for capital appreciation
and treasury investment in securities for dividend income and
interest income and/or for capital appreciation.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit before tax except that unallocated interest income,
unallocated other income and gains, net, unallocated foreign
exchange differences, net, corporate and other unallocated
depreciation, and corporate and other unallocated expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, tax recoverable,
pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and
other unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these
liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B ERRMFE(E

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4.

(a)

Operating segments

RETHEN (B)

(a) E&EDE

Solutions and
Application Services Integration Services Investments Total
& AR 5 BAFRREREH k& 3
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
“B-ME -ToSE CBoME -S--F ZECME -E--F ZECME CZoCE
(Unaudited)  (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEH) (RE%%) (REBR) (RE2R) (RERE) (ROER) (REEK) (REEN)
HK$'000 HKSO00  HKS'000 HKSO00  HKS000 HKS000  HKS'000 HKS 000
FEn FAT FEn 7 FEn Tér FEn A7
Segment revenue: AHYA:
Sales to external customers HETHREP
(note 5) (Rss) 70,191 75612 56,517 51,564 859 926 127,567% 128,102¢
Intersegment sales HEREHE 764 - 7024 3113 - - 7,788 3113
Otherincomeand gains,net AU\ RMEFE 254 1,021 57 7 98 146 409" 1174
Total segment revenue HRAES 71,209 76633 63,598 54,684 957 1072 135764 132389
Reconciliation: HE -
Elimination of intersegment sales 7 2578 4 £ 418 (7,788) (3113)
127,976 129276
Segment results PHEE 14,709 14,992 14,550 12,561 (356) 543 28,903 28,09
Reconciliation: i
Unallocated interest income KREHEMA 7,235 6,392
Unallocated foreignexchange ~ RAREHZHFE
differences, net 403 (26)
Corporateand otherunallocated M EREMKNEHE
depreciation 117) (107)
Corporateand other unallocated A EREMANEHE
expenses (15,660) (14.996)
Profit efore tax B BAER 20,764 19859
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Operating segments (continued)

PSRRI (E)

4. REIBER (K)

(a) &I (H)

Solutions and
Application Services Integration Services Investments Total
J& i R 5 BRTERSHRH kg k]
30June 31 December 30June 31 December 30June 31 December 30June 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
S Z3IcE —3cE 2
S -3 TR ZBIRE TR ZBIRE TR ZBIRE t2A
AAZTR -8 ®A=tAR  =f-H xA=tA =t-H #A=tA =t+-H
(Unaudited) (Audited)  (Unaudited) (Audited)  (Unaudited) (Audited)  (Unaudited) (Audited)
(REE0) (B87) (REBK) (42R) (REREK) (027) (REEK) (439
HKs'000 HKSO00  HKS'000 HKSO00  HKS'000 HKSO00  HKS'000 HKS 000
FEn FHT FEn FHT FEn -z FEn A7
Segment assets rHEE 191,561 198,776 74,190 54952 65,224 69,292 330,975 323,020
Reconcillation: HE
Elimination of interseqment HEEERFIEH
receivables (2,092) -
Corporateand other unallocated £ REHAATEAE
assets 337,325 331,488
Total assets AELMH 666,208 654508
Segment liabilities pRy=Ui | 93,347 95,769 29,019 22404 614 653 122,980 118,826
Reconcillation: HE:
Eimination of intersegment A DB FEL#
payables (2,092) -
Corporateand other unallocated R EREH AT EE
liahilities 39,835 29,683
Totalliabilites B 160723 148509

* This represents the consolidated revenue of HKS127,567,000
(2023: HK$128,102,000) in the condensed consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

These comprise the consolidated other income and gains,

net, of HKS7,644,000 (2023: HKS8,066,000) in the condensed
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

“ T ERHIRE | B RS

* ERBEBAR & 1828 22 Z 47 B A
127,567,000, 0 (= F = =4 :
128,102,000/ 7T) °

. BREREBEE B XA ZARE
H e A K 25 )F BB 5 7,644,000
BT (= FE = = 4 1 8,066,000
) e




Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

P ERRMFE(E)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. K& 5 IER (&)

(a) Operating segments (continued) (a) #& 7B (HE)
Solutions and
Application Services Integration Services Investments Total
ERR% BARERERRH kg ag
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZRCRE CFC-F O ZRCRE CTCCF O CRCRE CFC-F ZRCRE SR
(Unaudited)  (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REER) (REER) (REBK) (REBR) (REBR) (REER) (REEQ) (REE9)
HKS 000 HKSO00  HKS'000 HKSO00 — HKS'000 HKSO00 — HKS'000 HKS 00
FEn AT FEn TET 7T TET 7T AT
Other segment information: E #1354 % :
Net fair value loss on RENEZLTEERTE
investment property - - - - (1,000) - (1,000) -
Net fair value losses on ELTELCEENE,
financial assets at fairvalue IS EEATERHE
through profit orloss T - - - - (243) (501) (243) (501)
Amortisation of other AbEREESY
intangible assets 2,719 2874 3,874 3,852 - - 6,673 6,726
Depreciation e 1,162 1178 578 501 - - 1,740 1,679
Corporate and other CERAMADERE
unallocated depreciation 2,618 2627
4,358 4306
Impairment of trade NERGRERREDL
receivables recognised ERE SETET R
in the condensed
consolidated statement of
profit or loss, net* 362 847 32 55 - - 394 902
Capital expenditure™ BRAx 17 52 301 165 - - 418 17
Corporate and other PEREMADRER
unallocated capital R
expenditure** 137 56
555 V]
* Including impairment of trade receivables recognised in the *  BEREBEGE B K AT

*%

condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss attributable
to the application services segment of HKS844,000 (2023:
HKS1,262,000) and the solutions and integration services
segment of HKS454,000 (2023: HK$238,000), respectively, and
reversal of impairment of trade receivables recognised in the
condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss attributable
to the application services segment of HK$482,000 (2023:
HKS415,000) and the solutions and integration services segment
of HK$422,000 (2023: HKS 183,000), respectively.

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and
equipment.

*%

& FE IR 75 5 85 R BE AR K
ERIRTFE BB EWE B IR R
1B 53 5| /5 844,000% 7T (—F — =
4F 11,262,000 7T) K 454,000
TT(=FE = =4 : 23800047T) -

KRR B B4R & 18 25 2 T TE AR 5K
& FE IR 75 5 85 R BE AR K
ERIRTE 7 5.2 JEW B 5 R 7
[5] 36t 18 5 5 /482,000 7T (=&
= =4 1 415,000,% 7T) K 422,000
JEIT (ZF = =14 :183,000/87T) °

EXFL OFFENE - FE R
B -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

PSRRI (E)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. K& o IER (&)

(b) Geographical information (b) HEER
(i)  Revenue from external customers (i) FKRENSREFZUA
Hong Kong and
other countries/regions Mainland China Total
ERRAMERHE PR aE
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

“E-N&E -T--F ZE-NE -T--4 -F-ME -T--F
(Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)
(REER) (REFR) (REER) (REEw)  (REER)  (REER)
HKs'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS 000
FEx FET FiEx FET FiEx FHET

Segment revenue: AHBA

Sales to external customers HETHIREP 104,680 103,213 22,887 24,889 127,567 128,102
The revenue information is based on the locations of the WAEBER T ABEFETEH A

customers. HAEo

(ii) Non-current assets (i) HFREBEE

30 June 31 December
2024 2023
—ENF —ZE=F
ANA=+H +ZH=+—H
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEER) (B#E%)
HKS’000 HKS'000
F# T FHEIT
Hong Kong BE 140,623 132,042
Mainland China R R 102,811 109,106
243,434 241,148
The non-current asset information above is based on the FLHiEREBEEERIIEE
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments EFE®WES IR
and deferred tax assets. LB TAREERIBEE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B ERRMFE(E

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. K& 5 IER (&)

(c) Information about a major customer () —BXEEFZEHR

Revenue from transactions with an external customer KE—BINREPRZ G2 WAL
amounting to 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue: REEBIA10% A E -

For the period ended 30 June 2024, revenue from a major HE_Z-_WWFA=Z+AHL
customer of HK$40,664,000 (2023: HK$38,557,000) was HE RE—RBFEEPZKA
derived from transactions with the customer reported in the 540,664,000 70 (ZF = = F :
application services segment and the solutions and integration 38,557,000/ L) - B & IR
services segment. BE23RERRS D EMEERT

RRERRBOBNELRZS -

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5. WA BB ARWKEFEEE
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WASIHTIT :

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tTRHIEAEAR

2024 2023
—E-NE —TE-=F
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEERZ) (REEZ)
HKS’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers REZEFSHXHRA 126,708 127,176
Revenue from other sources REHMRFRHKRA
Gross rental income from investment KEMEZHSWALRE K
properties and interest income from EBEE 2R EWA
treasury investments 859 926
Total k) 127,567 128,102
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

PSRRI (E)

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5. WA - HbW AR W= F5E (&)
(CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers REEZEFAHHEA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) DHEUAEH

Solutions and

Application Integration
Services Services Total
BRERR
P& A AR % SRR BE

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REBER) (REBER) (REBER)

HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
FET FET FET
For the six months ended BE-ZE-_WNE~A=TH
30 June 2024 IEREA
Segments &
Types of goods or services & MR 5 5
Sale of goods and provision of 18 S o MR E R IBUT
software and GETS services BEFEFRS 11,523 3,400 14,923
Provision of software implementation 4t & {4 & jits & #88 fR 7%
and related services, and IT FRENB R RE
solutions implementation and K AR AR 7%
related services 19,207 26,572 45,779
Provision of Saa$S product offering  #Z L &4 B Al 755 = R I
and maintenance services HER 39,461 26,545 66,006
Total revenue from contracts with KRB E P A &8I AU A
customers 70,191 56,517 126,708
Geographical markets #h & ™5
Hong Kong and others BAEREAM 50,030 53,810 103,840
Mainland China AR i 20,161 2,707 22,868
Total revenue from contracts with 2R B B P& #HE UL A
customers 70,191 56,517 126,708
Timing of revenue recognition [ ON ST
Goods and services transferredata 3 — BB E E S R KRS
pointin time 11,523 3,400 14,923
Services transferred over time N— B R E RS 58,668 53,117 111,785
Total revenue from contracts with R E B & #HE U A
customers 70,191 56,517 126,708
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

R MIEE ()
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5. WA - Ht A R Wz 388 (&)
(CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFAHHWEA (8)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) DHEUAEZH (E)
Solutions and
Application Integration
Services Services Total
R F R
FE AR SR 15
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEZ) (REEZ) (REEEZ)
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FETT FET FET
For the six months ended BE-ZE-_=%,xH=+H
30 June 2023 ER1{E A
Segments &
Types of goods or services & mei R 5 5
Sale of goods and provision of 18 E o MR E R IUT
software and GETS services BEFEFRS 13,431 3,371 16,802
Provision of software implementation 4t & { & jifs & #88 fR 7% »
and related services, and IT NEMBHEBRATEE
solutions implementation and K AR AR 7
related services 23,634 24,881 48,515
Provision of SaaS product offering 42 & {F B R TS 2 7 2
and maintenance services HEERRTS 38,547 23,312 61,859
Total revenue from contracts with KRB B F & #H2 WA
customers 75,612 51,564 127,176
Geographical markets & ™ 5
Hong Kong and others BAEREAM 52,795 49,603 102,398
Mainland China FE A 22,817 1,961 24,778
Total revenue from contracts with KRB B P& #HE UL A
customers 75,612 51,564 127,176
Timing of revenue recognition S ON T
Goods and services transferredata 73— BB EE S B KRS
pointin time 13,431 3,371 16,802
Services transferred over time R—ER R R E R 62,181 48,193 110,374
Total revenue from contracts with ~ 2RE R F& &R AU A
customers 75,612 51,564 127,176
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

PSRRI (E)

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5. WA - HbW AR W= F5E (&)
(CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEZEFAHWEA (8)
(ii) Performance obligations (i) BAIELE

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of goods and provision of software and GETS services

The performance obligation is generally satisfied upon
product/service delivery, where payment in advance is
normally required, and the balance is generally due within 30
to 60 days from the date of delivery.

Provision of software implementation and related services

The performance obligation is generally satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due within 30
to 60 days from the date of billing.

Provision of IT solutions implementation and related services

The performance obligation is generally satisfied over time
as services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 30 days from the date of billing. Generally, a certain
percentage of payment is retained by respective customers as
the Group’s entitlement to the final payment is conditional on
the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a
certain period as stipulated in the respective contracts.

Provision of SaaS product offering and maintenance services
The performance obligation is generally satisfied over time as

services are rendered and payments in advance are normally
required before rendering the services.

—EERHRE [N AGEEERAR

5 B SR B 40 B T 40 A RHEL I
-

HEERRIEHEFREKITEF
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BHEET—HRER/ BB
BEK —REBEEEENTR M
o — MBI HEE30E60H
WEIE -

FEH B & 2 1E R 7%
BAOETE—MREREREOER
EN-mAIR—KRERBERER
HR#EET30E 60 H N B H] -

WERE AR RE R
AR

JE 4 & 1 — AR BE 1R AR 75 0 B ]
ERCMNR—RALRERR
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B ERRMFE(E

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(iij) Performance obligations (continued)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as

5. WA - HWB AR K5 (&)

REEFAHHWEA (8)
(ii) BHREF (&)

RANA=ZTENIEEHRTENE
ECRETHEBDORET) WX B

at 30 June are as follows: EBRSBEHOT
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEZR) (RegEZ)
HKs’000 HKS000
FET FET
Amounts expected to be recognised SRETEIBERR/WA
as revenue:
Within one year —F R 51,696 53,636
After one year fBiE—F 863 1,698
52,559 55,334

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations which are expected to be recognised
as revenue after one year relate to maintenance services, of
which the performance obligations are to be satisfied within
three years. All the other amounts of transaction prices
allocated to the remaining performance obligations are
expected to be recognised as revenue within one year. The
amounts disclosed above do not include variable consideration
which is constrained.

EPRERTENELHNRZE
RERBERHR - FREA /WK
AE BB = Rz K 4 IR
B-MBEEMESEEHRTED
BEENRZERSBERAERN —
FRERREA - LHRBENS
BA T EREZRE A ERE -

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tHLEAEA

2024 2023
—ENEF T =F
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REER) (RisEz)
HKs’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Other income and gains, net H g A R Wi 588
Bank interest income RITHIBUA 7,236 6,892
Value-added tax refund received L Bl BB R T 131 683

Dividend income from listed investments at & A FE&LEZ AR~
fair value through profit or loss EmiREREKA 98 142
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant H&E Y% - &= L& HEEEB

and equipment, net 2 Wz FER
Gain on lease modifications HEBF 2 W=
Others E

- 6

57 -
122 343
7,644 8,066
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

PSRRI (E)

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRBLADEF
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): ANEE 2 BRFRDE R &R (GEA)
T3 %18

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tHLAEA

2024 2023
—E-IF —E=F
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEZR) (RegEZ)
HKs’000 HKS000
FET FET
Cost of inventories sold BEHEFEKAE 17,721 16,747
Cost of services provided IR AR A A 40,887 43,675
Depreciation of property, plant and W BREREETE
equipment® 313 348
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEEZIE 4,045 3,958
Amortisation of other intangible assets** HEMmpEE#E 6,673 6,726
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BERZBEHEE 2
plant and equipment, net W 558 - (6)
Gain on lease modifications HEEG 2 B (57) -
Employee benefit expense™: EEBAFE
Wages, salaries, allowances and I8 %o 2R
other benefits H b 48 A 72,199 75,893
Equity-settled share-based payment MRt E AR S
expense 642 677
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R FET 2R
(defined contribution schemes)*** (TE BB FRETE) x> 4,589 4,150
77,430 80,720
Impairment of trade receivables, net FEUE 5 RBURE SR 394 902

* Depreciation of property, plant and equipment for the period of *

*%

HKS8,000 (2023: HKS51,000) is included in “Cost of sales and services”
on the face of the condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Amortisation of other intangible assets for the period of HK$6,673,000
(2023: HKS$6,726,000) is included in “Other expenses”on the face of the
condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. At 30 June
2024, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its
contributions to the pension schemes in future years (2023: Nil).

Inclusive of research and development cost for application software
products of HK$9,689,000 (2023: HKS11,992,000).

Inclusive of an amount of HK540,887,000 (2023: HKS43,675,000)
classified under “Cost of services provided”above.

—EERHRE [N AGEEERAR

**

HAYE - BE R G T E 8000
gL (—F = =4 : 51,000 ) A B
BtrE 1Eam i 2 [THER R A A

H A A 57 T B E B 1 6,673,0005 T
(ZF = =14 : 6,726,000/& ) WA 5
Bt B 2 [RMES A -

AEBERET - WA EA] BRI
KABRBLBEEHFKF - R=F
ZHENA=A,H o NEE AR
e iy (7 3% T R D 1 1R F SR B AR IR
EAT BRI (—F—=F &) -

715 B B fE FH B dn 2 T R BT
2k 79,689,000 T (= F = =4 :
11,992,000, 7T) °

B SLEE Ll [BIEERBEL K] 2
20 58640,887,0008 7w (ZFE= =4 :
43,675,000 7T) °
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B ERRMFE(E

7. FINANCE COST

7. BBEHA

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tHLAEA

2024 2023
—ENEF T =F

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

(REEER) (RisEz)

HKs’000 HKS'000

FET FET

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEBEZHME 438 191

8. INCOME TAX 8. FiE#H

FEREMNBHIRBEARAEAREBE
EZ T ERRBEENRKE165% (—F
Z=F 1 165%) (R BE - EARKE—

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the period, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is
a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profit tax rates regime. The BT /& 2 Rl R 2 7 & 45 B/ AR 1 &Y
first HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of assessment profits of TR o Z M B A A 8 & £ 2,000,000%
this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) and the remaining 70 (= = =4 1 2,000,000 7% 1) &R
assessment profits are taxed at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%). Taxes on T M) #5342 8.25% (—EF — = 4F : 8.25%)
profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of B - T E ERE SR TR A BIIR 16.5% (=
tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group T =4 1 16.5%) BF o HAtbith @ fE R
operates. BafzMEDBRERNEBKLEEER

FTEER, A ERIZEARENE -

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tHLAEA

38

2024 2023
—EINF —E=F
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEZR) (RisEZz)
HK$’000 HKS000
FET FET
Current - Hong Kong BNH— &%

Charge for the period ARSI 3,980 3,255
Overprovision in prior periods BT 2 IR (6) -

Current — Elsewhere BVHA — B fib 3h [
Charge for the period A3 45 84
Deferred RIE (1,298) (1,486)
Total tax charge for the period B IE ST 42 %8 2,721 1,853
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

In 2022, the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department (the “IRD")
issued an enquiry letter (“IRD Enquiry”) to a subsidiary of the
Company regarding the claim for enhanced deduction of certain
research and development expenditures (“R&D Enhanced
Deduction”). The subsidiary had, based on the available information
and documents, submitted 1 partial reply to the IRD Enquiry in
February 2023. The subsidiary received the assessor’'s comments
on the 1% partial reply in October 2023 on the application of the
Departmental Interpretation and Practice Note on R&D Enhanced
Deduction (“DIPN”). The subsidiary holds a different view and
submitted a reply in January 2024 and received response from
the assessor in February 2024. The subsidiary is in the process of
reviewing the response from the assessor and preparing the 2"
partial reply to the IRD Enquiry.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the major dispute
with the IRD is the difference in views between the Company and
the assessor about the application of the DIPN. It is not practicable
at this stage to estimate reliably the outcome of the claim and,
therefore, the financial effect (including the amount or timing
thereof, if any) of the foregoing enquiry. However, the directors
believe that, subject to availability of the required evidence, the
subsidiary has valid grounds to pursue the claim for the R&D
Enhanced Deduction. Accordingly, no further provision for Hong
Kong profits tax is considered necessary at this stage.

—EERHRE [N AGEEERAR

PSRRI (E)

8. FrE® (&)

EABKR(BMER)R=ZZE=Z
MAAE —FEM B A3 Rk ([F
HRAM])  NABEBERES THE
F 2 B9 B8 AN R ([ AFF 25 5 S B2 o 40
W) cZMBARERERBEERK
X R ZEBEZ=F_ABR®BE
BAMEIBHIEE ZHERAR
—E-=F+ AWEIFTR ET A
S BB SNFO R A TR TS IR U RE 3 AT T
el ([ IEPIEE R#TTIESI D &
FERERBEXREDREIE - ZHERQR
BETRERYR _ZT-_WF— AR
TEBIAR-_ZE_NE = ADTR
FAENEE - ZMBRAREZEETH
FTANEEREFERRIEILBOIEE -

ARBEERR ERBRENTES
EAENDAEFREEHRBEERIE
ERHBITHEINERAFAETRAER
BAREBRBENTENGETRENERK
FRAEMOMBEEE (BREESEX
BE @A) A E=2RR R
GHEEENBRAT ZWBARHA
FEOBRER DT E A BEINIRMAR
{8 - Bt - BRI BARBTBNEH
TR — S8 -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

P ERRMFE(E)

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

In March 2023, the IRD issued protective assessments for the year of
assessment 2016/17 to another two subsidiaries (the “Subsidiaries”)
of the Company demanding tax of approximately HK$805,000 in
aggregate. Per preliminary discussion with the assessor-in-charge,
the IRD is reviewing the tax affairs of the Subsidiaries for the years
of assessment from 2016/17 onwards and the issuance of the
protective assessments is merely for the purpose of keeping the
years of assessment open and not to become statutorily barred.
During the discussion, the IRD informed that the focus of the tax
review is the nature and the deductibility of certain expenditure/
expenses (“Deduction Claims”). The Subsidiaries have lodged
objections against the protective assessments and would provide
relevant information and documents in support of the Deduction
Claims once they are being requested by the IRD. In April 2023, the
Subsidiaries have purchased tax reserve certificate of HK$805,000
at the request of the IRD. In July 2023, the IRD replied that prompt
actions will be taken to process the objections.

In January 2024, the IRD has issued protective assessments for the
year of assessment 2017/18 to the Subsidiaries demanding tax of
approximately HK$960,000 in aggregate. The Subsidiaries have
lodged objections against the protective assessments and would
provide relevant information and documents in support of the
Deduction Claims upon request by the IRD. In February 2024, the
Subsidiaries have purchased tax reserve certificates of HK$960,000
at the request of the IRD.

The IRD has not issued any enquiry letters to the Subsidiaries on the
Deduction Claims. In the opinion of the directors of the Company;, it
is not practicable at this early stage to estimate reliably the outcome
and the financial effect (including the amount or timing thereof, if
any) of this tax review. However, the directors believe that the tax
reporting of the Subsidiaries have all along been properly handled.
Accordingly, no further provision for Hong Kong profits tax in
respect thereof is considered necessary at this stage.

Frig®t (&)

REBR_ZE_ZF=ZABAR
IRRWBAR ((ZEWBA ‘M)M
—E-R/ L ERBREEREHRRE
MR ZE kBT A& £ 49805,000/% 7T
B - RIFEFTHE TNV
RERIEREZEWNBARR-E
=N/ L FRENIRFEE 2B
BEH M RREEFR - TE
AREBEZARFERARERER AT
FRREM - HERENRTRT  BF
EEIRETIH  ERAMMEREE
SR ((HOBEFR]) - ZEHE QR
EHREEFHRLEZ  TSEH

BRER  RETHNRAREER
RXH - R-F-ZFMA - ZEHS

RNAEITE FER T B 2 Sk i 5 805,000%
TR - BERR _E-_=ZFt
FRIBHZREEZEH -

m%% —E-—MF-ARZEN

AREIR T —t / —N\FRBF
F%ﬁ%h&%m %*@HQAH
960,000,8 JTT T 5K © i E W B A
%%EH%W%&%%*%@E&%
%E* RHITFNRAEEER R
X NZZE-ME_R  ZEWEA
RITNE FERLTE B 2 5k B B 960,000 4 7T
B fRERL S o

W5 /B 0% A BN B 3 A 5% F P 8
RAEHEAARK - ARBEERS
RIBREBRAIEH Al SR 2R B
MERMMBEE (BRARSRARE
A (A)) XA NERTT  BEFHE
ZEMBAR —EBZERENKH
HHREREAFLE-SBE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

PSRRI (E)

9. DIVIDENDS 9. BE

a.  Subsequent to the end of the interim period, the Board has a. RHHHMAEEREZ SEF8R
determined that an interim dividend of HK$0.055 (2023: an FERR-ZZ-_MFNAAR (EH
interim dividend of HK$0.055) in cash per ordinary share MY) & HI AR 3R A il 2 2R A R AR
should be paid to the shareholders of the Company whose A% 3 ATR 2R AT A HARR S8 /% 0.055
names appear in the Register of Members on Thursday, 5 B (ZE =% : 1 HIIR 0055
September 2024. BIL) °

b.  Dividends attributable to the previous financial year approved b. A HIEREELE 2 E R EF
during the interim period are as follow: BZREMT

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tHLAEA

2024 2023
—ENF T =F
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEZR) (RisEz)
HKs’000 HKS000
FET FET
Final dividend in respect of the previous &t /& & 7 A B EARE R 1 5 B8
financial year, approved and paid FRMBFEzRBREE
during the interim period of HK$0.055 A% & 3@[%0.055 8 T (—ZF ==
(2023: final dividend of HK$0.075) per  4F : K Eifi% £ 0.075 /% 7T)
ordinary share 13,485 18,712
Less: Dividend for shares held under R ARBAR A A AR 6 12
the Company’s restricted share BhEt 2R E 2 RID PR1E
award scheme fi% 2 (119) (166)
13,366 18,546
Special dividend in respect of the TERLAE R A BRER R B B8
previous financial year, approved and A B EFE 2 BH R 8 &
paid during the interim period of Nil fEEmEEE T (ZE =4
(2023: HKS$0.05) per ordinary share 0.05757T) - 12,474
Less: Dividend for shares held under R ARBARA A AR 6 12
the Company’s restricted share BhEt 2R E 2 RID RS
award scheme fi% B - (111)
- 12,363
13,366 30,909

—EERHRE [N AGEEERAR 41



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

P ERRMFE(E)

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 10. BARIEERBRRELCEREA

42

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 243,670,021 (2023: 247,132,666) in issue during the period, as
adjusted to exclude the shares held under the restricted share
award scheme of the Company.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used
in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during
the period, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to
have been issued at no consideration on the deemed vesting of
all dilutive restricted shares of the Company awarded under the
restricted share award scheme of the Company.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based
on:

Earnings

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based
on profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent.

Shares

gl

BREABFSENBRESA LR
RS A% SR FE G AN A RS SE A M BN 2 B 1T
38 A% N #E £ 15 $243,670,021 (=&
T =4 1 247,132,666 %) 5+ & - W 5t 5
Br AR A A RSB D BN R 8 IE AT
FROIEL TR -

ERHERMNSEIBRESA LR
B A% 3R B (R AN AR s B R & - s E AT
ArzEERmEragatEaeRiksE
ANEFFFAzHARNEETEREEA
IR BERATBRERNRARFE L ZA
EEREERBERWBRMDERIERB
B ARREREEFRET2ER
B EAE

AHEEREALEERNMREIRNT

27

tﬂxﬁ$&ﬁﬁ%%ﬂﬂi
&% B B FE A i A AT E

g
g
I
|
il
e

12

Number of shares

R E

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tHLAEA

2024 2023
—EB-NE —E=F
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEZR) (RegEZ)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 518 &% £ AR & F|FT AN E 2
in issue during the period used in the basic 77 & 8 A% H14E F 5 8
earnings per share calculation 243,670,021 247,132,666
Effect of dilution — weighted average number & 52 28 — I 38 I8 N S 19 &
of ordinary shares:
Restricted shares awarded under the RIBZAR R 7B R SIAR G5 2Rt
Company’s restricted share award scheme &3 2 HBR HIi% (5 1,040,374 937,252
Number of shares used in the diluted ESREERNARMER
earnings per share calculation 244,710,395 248,069,918
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

PSRRI (E)

M. YE BERRKE

2024 2023
“EB-IF —E=F
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEX) (FeE%)
HKS’000 HKS000
FET FET
Net carrying amount, at 1 January R—A—R  REFE 1,031 1,250
Additions NE 555 423
Depreciation provided during the B FRITERE
period/year (313) (640)
Exchange realignment bE 5 (9) )
Net carrying amount, at 30 June/ wAA=+8/
31 December TZA=+—R " REFE 1,264 1,031
12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 12. REME
2024 2023
—EomE —Z2-=
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEZ) (&%)
HK$’000 HKSs000
FET FET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—RZEKmE 64,838 66,710
Disposal e (2,838) -
Net loss from fair value adjustments N ERE 2 EEFEE (1,000) (1,872)
Carrying amount, at 30 June/ WARA=Z+8,/
31 December TZA=t+—RZzKkEE 61,000 64,838

—EoMEh RS | BB AGEEARAT 43



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B ERRMFE(E

13. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various properties used in its
operations. Leases of properties generally have lease terms between
1 and 7 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and

13. HE
KEBERREA
AEBEBEREERPFHANSEDE
MAEAH - WERE—ROBEBELE—
ELF o —MmE  AEBEWEIFEAE
EEEEZENHHE T AREBUINIAL -
(a) EHAELE

B/ FAAEEERREENK

the movements during the period/year are as follows: HEREFSHET :
Properties
LES
2024 2023
—E-F —Eo=F
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEZR) (Fe &%)
HK$’000 HKS000
FET FET
As at 1 January w—A—H 7,986 10,815
Additions NE 17,500 405
Remeasurement on lease modifications FAEEE > E#HtE (750) 4,322
Depreciation charge e (4,045) (7,540
Exchange realignment bE 3 (141) (16)
As at 30 June/31 December WANA=+8/

+=-A=+—H” 20,550 7,986
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

PSRRI (E)

13. LEASES (CONTINUED) 13. HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEEREBEA (E)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEERE

B/ FREEAENREENRE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the period/year are as follows: g -
2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEX) (FeEZ)
HKS’000 HKS000
FET FET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—RAZERmEAE 9,156 12,027
New leases FHE 17,500 405
Remeasurement on lease modifications T E#HE v Ef T £ (807) 4,322
Accretion of interest recognised during 1,/ F R ER T B 1 K
the period/year 438 469
Payments (NEA (4,515) (8,051)
Exchange realignment bE 5 (127) (16)
Carrying amount at WAA=+HB/+=A
30 June/31 December =t+—RZEKREE 21,645 9,156
Analysed into: DT
Current portion mehE o 4,600 6,267
Non-current portion IEMENEL 17,045 2,889
Repayable: AR AT BAPREAE -
Within one year —FR 4,600 6,267
In the second year B4 4,468 2,041
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FoE2ERF (BIEERMF) 6,794 848
Beyond five years hEFE 5,783 -
Carrying amount at WAA=+HB/+=A
30 June/31 December =t+—RZEKREE 21,645 9,156

—EERHRE [N AGEEERAR
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B ERRMFE(E

13. LEASES (CONTINUED) 13. HE (&)

REBMER/EAA (H)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases (0 FEAAEMRIERBRNSEN
are as follows: K

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tHLAEA

2024 2023

—ENEF —E-=F

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

(REEZR) (RisEz)

HKs’000 HKS000

FET FET

Interest on lease liabilities HEABRZNEA 438 191
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FTRAEEEZIE

assets 4,045 3,958

Expenses relating to short-term leases A 2 HHE 2 Fx 23 115

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 72 1825 HE R H 48 & 58 4,506 4,264

The Group as a lessor AEEERSEBEA

AEERBLELEHERE BHEE
YE (MiE12) B BREARPERA
WHEBE(ZZE-_=F:—H) @AY
ERMNREBN—H(ZZEZ=F: —
HE)TXRWE -HEMNKR—KREK
HESZfMEEEE AEBRHARNE
RS U A £ 859,000 T (— T =
F 1 926,000787T) °

The Group leases its investment properties (note 12) consisting of
Nil (2023: one) commercial property in Mainland China and one
(2023: one) industrial property in Hong Kong under operating lease
arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the tenants
to pay security deposits. Rental income recognised by the Group
during the period was HK$859,000 (2023: HK$926,000).

RBEEMESEER ARERERR
MPAIZZ NAIBUBH G EHER K
KEATEIREN 2 RAR SR E 3R T -

At the end of the reporting period, the undiscounted lease
payments receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

46

30 June 31 December

2024 2023

—E-NE —ZEZ=4F

~A=t+H +ZA=+—H

(Unaudited) (Audited)

(REEER) (& E=Z)

HK$’000 HKS000

FET FHEIT

Within one year —FRN 280 1,138
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14. GOODWILL

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

PSRRI (E)

14. &

(Unaudited)

(RBEX)
HK$’000
FET
30 June 2024 “E-IEANAZ=TH
Cost and carrying amount at 1 January 2024 RZZEZMFE-—A—BK
and 30 June 2024 TECWFERNAZTERAREEE 135,001
(Audited)
(&%)
HKSs'000
FET
31 December 2023 —E-=F+=ZHR=t+-—H
Cost and carrying amount at 1 January 2023 RZTEZ=F—H—B8K
and 31 December 2023 CEC=F+ A=+ -HAAKKEERE 135,001
15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. Ht B EE
Deferred
development Customer
costs relationships Software Total
i1
SR EFEf g BE
(Unaudited)  (Unaudited) (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)
(REER) (REER) (REER) (REER)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
30 June 2024 —E-MERAZTA
Costat 1 January 2024, net of accumulated ~ A - Z —PIFE—F—H 2 A
amortisation and impairment M 2T # 3 MORE 21,306 1,521 9,465 32,292
Amortisation provided during the period 7K A1 8 85 7 45 (3,874) (380) (2,419) (6,673)
At 30 June 2024 RZE_MFERA=1H 17,432 1,141 7,046 25,619
At 30 June 2024: RZZZMERA=TH:
Cost A 46,231 14,767 46,028 107,026
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 25t 5 T Rl & (28,799) (13,626) (38,982) (81,407)
Net carrying amount REFE 17,432 1,141 7,046 25,619
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

BRI (&
15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 15.  HithBE &= (&)
Deferred
development Customer
costs  relationships Software Total
EIE
I EFHE gt ek
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
(&) (&%) (&%) (lmE#%)
HKS000 HKS'000 HKS$000 HKS$000
FET FET FET FET
31 December 2023 “EZ=f5+ZHA=1-H

Costat 1January 2023, net of accumulated AT =F—fF—H A

amortisation and impairment Mk REEHERRE 29,075 2,355 14,304 45,734
Amortisation provided during the year AEEHIERE (7,769) (834) (4,839) (13,442)
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=f+-A=+—H 21,306 1,521 9,465 32,292

At31December 2023and 1January 2024: HRZE-=F+-A=+—-HEK

R-ZE-_mN&E—HF—Q:
Cost A 46,231 14,767 46,028 107,026
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 25t # 8 &R E (24,925) (13,246) (36,563) (74,734)
Net carrying amount REFE 21,306 1,521 9,465 32,292
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES

PSRRI (E)

16. B E 5 IR

30 June 31 December
2024 2023
—E-MF T =F
~BE=1H +=ZA=+—H
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEEZ) (FeEZ)
HKS’000 HKS000
FET FET
Trade receivables B E 5 BRFX 43,142 40,961
Impairment VERIE] (4,617) (4,256)
38,525 36,705

The Group’s trading terms with its customers vary from contract to
contract or depending on the specific arrangements with individual
customers, and may include cash on delivery, advance payment and
on credit. For those customers who trade on credit, the overall credit
period is generally within 60 days, except for certain projects with
longer implementation schedules or for major or specific customers,
where the period may be extended. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding trade receivables and overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by management. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

AEBZXZGFRERER G QKR
FRERNEFEF ZHRZHEME - A8
BREEIMNR - BENRESRE - 3L
FUBRRPANETRIZEFPME -
EREEH -—RITZN60KR - HME
THERIHNRE IR IBREE
BEP AEREEH - AEE-EBR
EHERERECRBRBEZ RN BF
BRTHEMaPTIELES KEE
WEBL U FRWE S ERERFT AT
AEARIIEHEMEERESE -
FEME 5 BRI AR

RREMEEER BREHERNZ
ERATEMBREBZRESITOT -

30 June 31 December
2024 2023

—EWNEF —F-=
ANA=t+H +=-RA=+—H
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEER) (TEiz)
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FHET
Within 1 month —@AR 25,913 26,760
1to 3 months —==@A 7,693 4,956
4 to 6 months m= N @A 2,657 2,570
7 to 12 months +ZE=+=@A 2,262 2,419
38,525 36,705

—EERHRE [N AGEEERAR
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B ERRMFE(E

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 16. B E 5 iR (&)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade JEWE SERF 2 BEBERESBNT

receivables are as follows:

2024 2023

—ECmEF —EC=F

(Unaudited) (Audited)

(RBEX) (Fe&EZ)

HKS’000 HKS000

FET FET

At beginning of period/year RERF 4] 4,256 3,923
Impairment losses, net BEE B FEE 394 1,066
Amount written off as uncollectable i 85 7 BEOE U B R IE - (736)
Exchange realignment bE 3 A& (33) 3
At end of period/year REF 4. 4,617 4,256
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using REMEANRAREEEETRE
a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision A AT EREEEEE - BEXD
rates are based on days past due. The calculation reflects the ERBHAMET ZitERBEA
probability-weighted outcome and reasonable and supportable EIEERRNBRERPAIENEH
information that is available at the reporting date about past events, B EIE AR S TR R A B R

current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. TR EERAIFEER -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

ISR MIEE ()
16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 16. FEWE 5 IR (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on TREIAEEFAEEHEEEFERN
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: EWE ZERNEERRER
At 30 June 2024 R-ZB-MEARA=1H
Past due
g
Credit-
impaired Less than 1to3 Over
receivables Current 1 month months 3 months Total
FERE — 1@ -z =@EA
FE WK IE B AR =@EA BAE mat
Expected credit loss rate FEH{E B E5 1B % 100% 0.10% 0.37% 0.74% 17.42% 10.70%
Gross carrying amount AR 48 (E
(HK$'000) (F#&T) 3,598 25,296 6,480 2,304 5,464 43,142
Expected credit losses ~ FEHAZ EE51E
(HK$'000) (F&T) 3,598 26 24 17 952 4,617
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+=ZHA=+—H
Past due
8 5
Credit-
impaired Less than 1t03 Over
receivables Current 1 month months 3 months Total
EERE —1{& -5 ={@A
FEW IR B ER AR ={@A Ak #Et
Expected credit loss rate T8 #i {5 S /&518 % 100% 0.14% 031% 0.86% 13.77% 10.39%
Gross carrying amount SR 48 (E
(HK$'000) (F#&T) 3,551 26,863 3273 2,669 4,605 40,961
Expected credit losses ~ FEHAZ &5 1E
(HK$'000) (F&T) 3,551 38 10 23 634 4,256

—EERHRE [N AGEEERAR
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B ERRMFE(E

17. CONTRACT ASSETS

17. BHEE

30 June 31 December
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
AA=+H +=-—A=+—H
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEEX) (& =Z)
HK$’000 HKS000
FETT FET
Contract assets arising from: BHEERBUATEIE:
Sale of goods and provision of software HEE mRIBHEMS R
and GETS services BNETFE SRS 1,822 3,496
Provision of software implementation RESGEEIES
and related services, and IT solutions fR#% - RAMBHIERR
implementation and related services GES-V L 26,023 23,135
Provision of Saa$ product offering and RESEFRBERR
maintenance services HeE AR TS 14,614 2,707
42,459 29,338

Contract assets are mainly initially recognised for revenue earned
from the provision of software implementation and related services,
and IT solutions implementation and related services as the receipt
of consideration is based on the billing process. Included in contract
assets for provision of software implementation and related services,
and IT solutions implementation and related services are unbilled
amounts of revenue. Upon completion of the billing of the revenue
from contract customers, the amounts recognised as contract assets
are reclassified to trade receivables. The increase in contract assets
during the six months ended 30 June 2024 was mainly due to the
increase in the provision of SaaS product offering and maintenance
services near the end of the period.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets is
as follows:

HRRENRR Y E2ENHLHERE
MR - REEFE R KA RS - A
KRB AR EORT R E it XA IR
PISBANPERSANEE - $LIE
T B MAABRS - A REMAB
BERTRE MR ERERBFAGH
BEDARKRERASE - TRED
EPWRARLERER ZECHRR
BHNEENSREEEN I EERKE
SER - BE_T-_MNFEA=+H
EAREANEGHNEEEZMDEEHAR
B B R BT 3R (8 B AR 7% 22 om M
EARTSIEANFTEL

BHRBENTARK@NEERREAT

30 June 31 December
2024 2023
—ENEF —F-=
ANA=t+H +=-RA=+—H
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEERZ) (TE|ix)
HKS’000 HKS000
FET FHET
Within one year —F R 42,459 29,338
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

BRI RMEE (&)
18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 18. EAFERBZ ARZUBE
PROFIT OR LOSS B
30 June 31 December
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=F
RNA=+H +=-A=+—¢H
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REER) (FeEZ)
HK$’000 HKS000
FET FET
Debt investment, at fair value BRATEFEZEBRE 2,100 2,100
Listed equity investments, at fair value BRATFEFE 2 ETRA
®E 1,963 2,206
4,063 4,306
Portion classified as current assets DEARBEEHND (1,963) (2,206)
Portion classified as non-current assets DI AEIERDEEILS 2,100 2,100
The listed equity investments were classified as financial assets at ITTRAKEAERIEEEMES &
fair value through profit or loss as they were held for trading. BIEANTECEZSANRZMBEEE -
The debt investment was mandatorily classified as a financial asset BEERE T EG D B AR ATAE
at fair value through profit or loss as its contractual cash flows are KERABRZHBEE BHEHOH
not solely payments of principal and interest. enEWIFELRINARERFE -
As at 30 June 2024, the Group’s listed equity investments with a RZZEZWMFAA=+TH FTEHZ L
carrying value of approximately HK$1,963,000 (31 December 2023: A% 25 1% & BR E 1B %Y A 1,963,000 7% 7T
HK$2,206,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities ZE - =F+ZHA=+4—H 2206000
granted to the Group. BT EAMGRETAEER 2 —MRIRTT
BRE(EHEA o
19. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND 19. BNEZ RN  Hitt A FE
ACCRUALS REGtRE
30 June 31 December
2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
AAB=t+H +=-A=+—8
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEEZ) (B&EZ)
HK$’000 HKS000
FET FET
Trade payables JERTE B ERK 14,579 11,174
Other payables H M E T R IE 31,022 30,015
Accruals JEET A 21,518 27,468
67,119 68,657
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B ERRMFE(E

19. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND

20

54

ACCRUALS (CONTINUED)

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

19. ENEZ RN - HAENKE
R FEETROE (&)

REBEHEEER  BHE SRR
BEAZRERAMOT -

30 June 31 December

2024 2023

—E-MEF —E_=F

ANB=+H +ZA=+—H

(Unaudited) (Audited)

(REER) (&%)

HKS’000 HKS000

FET FET

Within 1 month — & A A 13,456 9,324
1to 3 months —Z={EA 119 1,038
4 to 6 months HE R E A 34 415
Over 6 months 7NE A A & 970 397
14,579 11,174

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally ERNEZERRLTFE - —RIZ30K

settled on 30-day terms.

HIPR 4508 ©

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 20. EHAE
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: EHBEEFBOT
30 June 31 December
2024 2023
—E-lmEF —T_=F
ANB=+8 +=—A=+—8
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REERK) (')
HKS’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Advances received from customers =y EY=F"7 ¢
Sale of goods and provision of software HEE mRIRHEYS R
and GETS services BIFETE 5 8R% 1,054 1,133
Provision of software implementation RS EENIER
and related services, and IT solutions RS « REMBI B EER
implementation and related services GES-Yi ke 14,327 15,657
Provision of Saa$S product offering and PR RTSE m &
maintenance services HEE RS 37,178 36,750
52,559 53,540
Portion classified as current liabilities PEAERBEESLY (51,696) (52,143)
Portion classified as non-current liabilities DA B EE D 863 1,397
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21.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The majority of the contract liabilities mainly include advances
received to render software implementation and related services,
and IT solutions implementation and related services, and the
provision of SaaS product offering and maintenance services. The
decrease in contract liabilities during the six months ended 30 June
2024 was mainly due to the decrease in advances received from
customers in relation to the provision of software implementation
and related services, and IT solutions implementation and related
services at the end of the period.

20.

DEFERRED TAX

21.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the

period/year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

PSRRI (E)

BHNEE (&)

MOAMBEIZEEMREHEM
e R AR IR - RE AR R EIR T
B it N 48 B AR 7% A B 12 4 B4 B AR
7E m S # o R 5 P AR B B R - B
E_E_MEXRA=THIERERH
BREERLTEHNEIREREENR
B ERLERRYE  RERR R
RARERMEBBARG 2 EHEF R
FOB D FTEL o

S ORE mi >+

IEFEBIH

W/ FR BEEHRBEENBEBEZE
E RN

EEREEE
Temporary

differences
arising from

Lease contract
liabilities liabilities Total
RBEEHEE
HESE ZERER wEE
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REER) (REER) (REER)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FHET
At 1 January 2024 RZEZMF—H—H 710 2,005 2,715
Deferred tax charged to the BNk SRR S BT X
condensed consolidated ZIRIERIE
statement of profit or loss
during the period (147) (274) (421)
Exchange realignment ME I8 B - (55) (55)
Gross deferred tax assets at R-ZZEZMFRA=1+H
30 June 2024 RIERIBREEFR 563 1,676 2,239
R FRHRE | R R REBR AR
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MR (E
21. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 21EER R (&)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHREEE
Fair value
adjustments
Deferred  arising from
Revaluation development acquisitionof ~ Withholding Right-of-
of properties costs  subsidiaries taxes use assets Total
Wi
BE MERAZ
NEER BENE ATEREZ BB GREEE aE
(Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited) (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)
(REER) (REBR) (REBER)  (REER) (REBK)  (RBEQ)
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000
FiEx FiEx FiEx FiEx FEx FEx
At 1 January 2024 RZF-mF-A—-H m 3,515 2,685 516 699 7,688
Deferred tax credited to the HBAHABREERRER
condensed consolidated ZERERE
statement of profit or loss
during the period - (639) (680) (249) (151) (1,719)
Exchange realignment i 5 (1) - - - - (1)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at RZZ-MESA=TA
30 June 2024 BRREEEEE 272 2,876 2,005 267 548 5,968
Deferred tax assets BEEMIEEE
Temporary
differences
arising from
Lease contract
liabilities liabilities Total
KEEHEE
HEAE 2 TR A G
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
(&%) (e 2E=%) (fe2&=%)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET
At 1 January 2023 R-_T_=%—HF—H - 2,205 2,205
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to ~ F Rt A (FBR) 424
the consolidated statement of Bamk 2 IELERIE
profit or loss during the year 710 (200) 510
Gross deferred tax assets at RZE-_=F+—-A8
31 December 2023 —+—HEEMREE
EERE 710 2,005 2,715
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

21. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

PSRRI (E)

21. JEIEFI1E (1)

Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE
Fair value
adjustments
Deferred arising from
Revaluation development acquisition of Withholding Right-of-
of properties costs  subsidiaries taxes  useassets Total
Yok
BT MBAAZ
nEER  REKE ATERE IR EAEEE ot
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
(ER) (88K B8k (BE8%) (BF%) (BFR)
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET FET
At 1 January 2023 W-Z-=%-f-A 366 4,797 4,057 887 - 10,107
Deferred tax charged/ ERIB/GIA) &4
(credited) to the BaixEERE
consolidated statement of
profit or loss during the year (93) (1,282) (1372) (371) 699 (2419)
Gross deferred tax liabilitiesat R =Z = =%+~ A
31 December 2023 —+—RERERE
BEER 273 3,515 2,685 516 699 7,688

22, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities in
connection with certain guarantees not provided for in the financial
statements were as follows:

Guarantees have been given to certain banks by the Company
for performance bonds/guarantees issued by the banks in
relation to certain contracts undertaken by the Group amounting
to HK$31,700,000 as at 30 June 2024 (31 December 2023:
HK$31,700,000), of which HK$21,085,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$20,656,000) was utilised as at 30 June 2024.

—EERHRE [N AGEEERAR

22. FREE

RBEHRMEER W ARRMBHRE
AELBERETEREBZHAA
ERNNE

—E-MFEANAZTH ARQXRERA
SEEAEZETAEOMABSHEHEITE
2z EBORE RS THEITRME
A 831,700,000 L (ZE - =F+=
A =-+—H : 31,700,000 7T ) Z #ER -
HF21,0850008 L (ZEZ=F+=
B=4+—H :20656,000&7C) BN _-Z
—MESNA=1THEA -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

P ERRMFE(E)

23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions, arrangements and balances
detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the

following transactions with related parties during the period:

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

23.

BEALXRS

BRIt FMHREEMEMFALZIRS
RHRERIN REERHRN G ETT
THREALRS
AEBETEEBEABZMEWT

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tHLAEA

2024 2023

—E-IF —EC=F

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

(REEZR) (RgEZ)

HKs$’000 HKS000

FET FET

Short-term employee benefits REEERA 8,585 8,074

Equity-settled share-based payment expense [I% 18 % & LA (5 4 F X2 404 297

Post-employment benefits BERL 2 12 A 81 78
Total compensation paid to key management X T EEIE A8~

personnel B 5 4818 9,070 8,449

These included continuing connected transactions exempt from
the connected transaction requirements under Rule 14A.95 of the
Listing Rules. The above related party transactions are fully exempt
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

24, FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities reasonably approximated to
their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged bank deposits, trade receivables, current
portion of deposits and other receivables, trade payables, current
portion of other payables and financial liabilities included in
accruals reasonably approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short term maturities of these instruments or the effect
of discounting is not material.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values for certain financial instruments:

58

24,

I ERER SR ERRET LN
FRAIZE 14A95 KMBEER SR E © IRIE
EHRAIE4AE LB R 5
ZHEEHE -

MBETAAFERAFEER
R

RBEPHEER  AEEVBEE
kaEzREERE A THESEINMEE -

EEEEHEREAFABEEE
EHEMRITER  BRE SRS RD
Mozke REMEERRIE  ENE
SR B BB D 2 B A FRIR
AR RBEZHBREZAFES
BEEREERS  TEARNZET
AZBHHRESTRNTEL TERX -

MBEERABZAFEDNZEAEBR
HHZBREMRHZIARSTES
B - HERBISOE R ER S ERR
T ERBREBRMGFE TG
TERFE:
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

24. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the non-current deposits and other payables have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms.
In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of these financial
instruments reasonably approximate to their carrying amounts.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices.

The fair value of a club membership debenture included in debt
investment is based on available market prices.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 30 June 2024

PSRRI (E)

24, IR TEAELAFERAFEER

R ()
FRBRE KM RAORTE
TyiE FIRES PTG MBI T A -
BRERKRSRBERAMAE -8
ERR ZEUBTANRTHEARE
o S EL AR T (4R -

FARAERE 2 R TFEDERTSHRE

.8
= e

AABBREZEMERER 2T
BNETSERSE -

DV EERER

TREBTRASENBTAZ R VER

SERERE
BAFEHEZEE:
R-FE-m{FENA=+H

Fair value measurement using

AVERAUT&ETE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

ER O EARTBRE BEATTHE

TISME WAHE WAHE
(%18) (%28) (%38) wmE
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(RBER) (RBER) (REBER) (REER)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET

Financial assets at fair value through 12 AFEKLEF AE 2
profit or loss: BBEE

Listed equity investments ETRARE 1,963 - - 1,963
Debt investment BEREE - 2,100 - 2,100
1,963 2,100 - 4,063

—EERHRE [N AGEEERAR

59




60

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B ERRMFE(E

24. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

24, IR TEAELAFERAFEER

B (&)
DFEERERE (H)

BAFEHEZEE: (#)
RZF-Z=ZaF+=-H=+—H

Fair value measurement using

AFEREUTERHE

Quoted prices

Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
mE BERABR BERAAAER
mISME o A BUE A BUE
(B158) (8208) (£3[8) ek
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
(EEZ) (&%) (&EZ) (&%)
HKS000 HKS’000 HKS'000 HKS$000
FET FET TFET FET
Financial assets at fair value through 12 AFEKEZF AE 2
profit or loss: BBEE
Listed equity investments ETRARE 2,206 - - 2,206
Debt investment BEREE - 2,100 - 2,100
2,206 2,100 - 4,306
Liabilities measured at fair value: BRAFEFEZERE:

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023.

During the period ended 30 June 2024, there were no transfers
of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (Year ended 31 December 2023: Nil).

AEER-_ZT_MFRA=+BERZ
T_=F+Z A=+ -BUEEMR
NP EFEZHBRIE-

HE_Z_NFA=Z+81-HHE-
MU BEERMEEENS  £H1/E8H
F2E2EBMEATENEER I
AFEHEEASEHEIE (HE=
E_ZF+ A=+ —HIFE E) -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include lease liabilities,
pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
trade and other payables, financial liabilities included in accruals,
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which mainly
arise directly from its operations or investments.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, equity price risk
and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk
The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates

relates primarily to the Group’s cash at banks and bank deposits
with floating interest rates.

—EERHRE [N AGEEERAR

PSRRI (E)

25 ERERERFEREE

AEEZEIZRHKTARREHEERE
EEMRTEFIANRELEFRRE
EE-UWEVWBIAZFEREDAR
AEEZEBERE - AKEEEME
BEUWHEERAR  MEKE SRR
Be RkEMBKKE  EBNE SRR
K E &M FRIR - 5 A IR Z W
BRERRAFELBRGE AR T
EE UFUHEERAEIFZAR
LEYIREEREL -

AEBPHTAREEZETEZRAR ST
TRk NERR - EERRE  BAE
RERMEADESRR EF2EMH
3[R &N SRRt E IR % TR Ut B L B
LR

R @
AEBRETSHNEZEGHMAT 2 M

Rt BEANEERFRNBITRRZH
MEFEZREMRITHERER -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B ERRMFE(E

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 25 I EREEBEREE (E)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interest rate risk (continued) F =@k (8)
TEREBINEFRBEMEHEF T
BRT  AEEZBRBANEF (BBY
R RIBTERMIBRITERAZLTE)
HHREEIBAIREHIRE &) 2 HRIRE -

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on
floating rate bank balances and bank deposits).

62

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
basis points before tax
HeEh# i, B B4 A0 0%
GR4)  #i/ GEd)
(Unaudited)
(RisEz)
HKS000
FET
As at 30 June 2024 R-ZE-WmWFEXA=1+H
Hong Kong dollar BT (50) (328)
United States dollar ETT (50) (1,030)
Renminbi (“RMB”) ARB(TARKE]D (50) (170)
Hong Kong dollar BT 50 328
United States dollar ETT 50 1,030
RMB AR 50 170
As at 30 June 2023 WZZE-_=ZFA=1+H
Hong Kong dollar BT (50) (337)
United States dollar ETT (50) (925)
RMB AR (50) (229)
Hong Kong dollar BT 50 337
United States dollar E7T 50 925
RMB AR 50 229

There is no impact on the Group’s equity except on the retained

profits.

BROR B AISN  HA K EEa BT

BFEZ
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
mainly arise from revenue generated and/or costs and expenses
incurred by operating units in currencies other than the units’
functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit before tax (arising from RMB denominated financial
instruments).

PSRRI (E)

25. B ERERE B FERBEEK (&)

ShEs mLBR

AEEEHXZEERER - WRARE
ERENEEFENERZEMLYES
BIANEERBRZARREEZ
PR KBS

TRMSIEFA BB TR
HRT « ARERREHEEER (U
ARES BB TBFEE) 2 K5
MEFIEARMERTHAZEE
HRIEF -

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
exchange rate before tax
ExEH RR B A0 %
(FBg) i,/ OE2)
(Unaudited)
(RegEZ)
% HKS000
FET
As at 30 June 2024 R-ZE-WEXRA=1H
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB WS A AREEZE 5 (592)
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB {78 7T 3, A REEFHE (5) 592
As at 30 June 2023 RZEZ=FA=1AH
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB M TH ARKEE 5 (693)
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB it/ 7T i A R B FHE (5) 693

There is no impact on the Group’s equity except on the retained

profits.

Credit risk

The Group primarily trades on credit terms with recognised
and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that most
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are to a certain

BRORBEIE AN A EEa BT

& -
FERR
AEEBETEERAREERHZF=

FTREEGRETR S RRBRAKE
ZHBE KRB MRREERTETR

ZZEP EXBEELUAZKBET
EERZERF ° BH  BUHER AR

EAGEERERBERR -

extent subject to certain credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored by the Group’s management on
an ongoing basis.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B ERRMFE(E

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 25 I EREEBEREE (E)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Maximum exposure and period/year-end staging BEREBREREFERFERSR
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TREFERAEEEEBRENEE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which EzkmaEERR  FZUaHER
is mainly based on past due information unless other information REE(RIFATETHREBENARS
is available without undue cost or effort, and period/year-end NEHBERTREEMER) @ RRZE
staging classification as at 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023. The ZHWHFEAAZFTEARZEZ=F+=
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. A=+—A8B FRmEREE-
FI23M e AMBEAENRERE -
As at 30 June 2024 R-E-Z@EANA=+H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=f@8A
AREERA 2HENEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
K8 R L R[S Lk
(Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)  (Unaudited)
(REER)  (REER)  (REER)  (REER)  (REEHR)
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS’000 HKS'000 HK$000
FAT FET FAT FET FEZ
Trade receivables* RSB SRR - - - 43,142 43142
Contract assets BHEE - - - 42,459 42,459
Deposits and other receivables Be REMEKFUE
- Normal** —EE* 8,739 - - - 8,739
Pledged bank deposits BERBRITER
- Not yet past due —HREH 553 - - _ 553
Cash and cash equivalents ReRZEAREE
- Not yet past due —HRBH 305,633 - - - 305,633
314,925 - - 85,601 400,526
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

PSRRI (E)

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 25. I EREEEERBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Maximum exposure and period/year-end staging (continued) BEERBRAT ERFTERBR (&)
As at 31 December 2023 RZFZ=#F+=-A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+-{@A
BEEERR THBSBEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-fR& FRE E-RE BlLAZE B
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
(BE17) (BE%) (BE7) (BE%) (BE%)
HKS 000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
FET FET FET FET FAET
Trade receivables* EWE SRR - - - 40,961 40,961
Contract assets ANEE - - - 29,338 29,338
Deposits and other receivables e RAMEKHE
- Normal** —EE* 4,943 - - - 4,943
Pledged bank deposits BEERRITER
- Not yet past due — KBS 466 - - - 466
Cash and cash equivalents BeRhEREeERE
- Not yet past due KBS 316,145 - - - 316,145
321,554 - - 70,299 391,853
*  For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified *  RAREEEREE A B E R E
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is WE Z B BRI &R %
disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements. BRI FEHEM T 16
**  The credit quality of the deposits and other receivables is considered 1T K B JE K TR K 8 B R AR
to be “normal”when they are not past due and there is no information BHXTHBEEEA L RREER
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit LB X115 0 - BYR (E1E 2 R Bt fE
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the WA BN IEEEERIEE] - ZA -
financial assets is considered to be ‘doubtful”. R GEENSEE XS RE] -

“ T ERHIRE | B RS




Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

P ERRMFE(E)

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 25 I EREEBEREE (E)

66

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the
value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price
risk arising from individual equity investments included in financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss - listed equity investments
(note 18) as at 30 June 2024 and 31 December 2023. The Group's
listed equity investments are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and are valued at quoted
market prices at the end of the reporting period.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 10%
change in the fair values of the Group’s listed equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any impact on tax,
based on their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

IR A fE A8 B

k$F%HMEhmFH =R B E
RlESFEEZ B LERRATLFZA
FEBREZRR AEEZRAER
EBRERE-_ZS-_NFA=+AK
ZE=F+ A=+ —HEBER
FTEKERARZVBEE-LWE
AEE (FizE18) 2 @BIRAEZE o A
EEZ ETRARENREBBRARS
FraRAR ([BRFT]) B Hiks
R4 E AR IS MERTE -

TRENEFBEEMEHERFTE
BRATRARFEMBEZER - UHE
FREAERE AEBLMKRAKRE
RMEHHEER 2 AT ETZE10%
B HEEIEE 2 BURIEE -

Carrying Increase/

amount of (decrease)

equity in profit

investments before tax

RAEREZ RR B A R

IREE 8GR

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

(REX) (REEZR)

HKs’000 HKs’000

FET FET
As at 30 June 2024 R-ZE-WEXRA=1H
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong: EEE LM ZBRAKRE :

— financial assets at fair value through profit —BAFELEZARZ
or loss MBEE 1,963 196
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

PSRRI (E)

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 25 IEREEBERBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Equity price risk (continued) R A& 1% JEL B (48)
Carrying Increase/
amount of (decrease)
equity in profit
investments before tax

BAREZ B 5 A A
FRmEE 1 ORd)

(Audited) (Audited)
(Fe &%) (FeEZ%)
HKS'000 HKS000
FET FET
As at 31 December 2023 R=B=-=F+=A=+—8
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong: EEB LM ZRAKRE
— financial assets at fair value through profit —ZATFELEZARY
or loss MBEE 2,206 221
There is no impact on the Group’s equity except on the retained BROR BB s K o - W AR S B s L AT
profits. A2 o
Liquidity risk REBESER
The Group’s objective is to ensure there are adequate funds to AEBZEERBRAERENESIN
meet its contractual payments for financial liabilities in the short ENEEHERRMZVBEES N
and long term. In the management of liquidity risk, the Group Ko BBRBERRERE  RNEBER
monitors and maintains a level of cash and bank balances, and MHEEEIEBEARNIBEHAEFEE
bank deposits deemed adequate by management to finance the BFE 2R RBITHEBRKFERRIT
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash TR UREEReREKEEN 2
flows. Cash flows of the Group are closely monitored by senior TE SREEEBRETYERLAE
management on an ongoing basis. HErsREME -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B ERRMFE(E

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 25 I EREEBEREE (E)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (continued) nEELEK (F)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end KRB EHEEER  AEEBRESG LD
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted RTIRA R E M B aEE B
payments, is as follows: WA
As at 30 June 2024 R-ZB-MEARA=1H
Lessthan 3tolessthan 1to5
On demand 3months 12 months years Total
=z
REREER JSIR=ER +Z@AR —-ZIF g
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REER) (REER) (REBK) (REBR) (REBER)
HKs$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Trade payables BB S HH 13,527 52 1,000 - 14,579
Other payables Hiv R 5R - 31,022 - - 31,022
Lease liabilities BEAR - 1,363 4,470 20,180 26,013
Financial liabilities included in accruals ST ABRIFIBEZ BB - 9,680 - - 9,680
Guarantees given to banks for performance  Fi A& B & 2 & TA M
bonds/guarantees issued in relation BORE /BRAFET
to certain contracts undertaken by the R ER
Group 21,085 - - - 21,085
34,612 42,117 5,470 20,180 102,379
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

PSRRI (E)

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 25. I EREEEERBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk (continued) REE SRR (&)
As at 31 December 2023 R-_ZE-_=F+-/F=+—H
Lessthan 3 to less than Tto5
On demand 3months  12months years Total
-z
REREE SR=EA +-—EAR —ZL%F 2

(Audited)  (Audited)  (Audited)  (Audited)  (Audited)
(@En)  (48%) (EFR) (E2%) (E30)
HKS000  HKS000  HKSDO0  HKSO00  HKS1000

THEL TEL THEL THEL THEL

Trade payables ERESER 9,879 898 397 - 11,174
Other payables HihER 7B - 30,015 - - 30,015
Lease liabilities BEAR - 1676 4,866 3,067 9,609
Financial liabilities included in accruals ST ABRHFIEZ B A E - 9,070 - - 9,070
Guarantees given to banks for performance  FLANE B &SE 2 & T AN T

bonds/guarantees issued in relation BHORE /ERMAET

to certain contracts undertaken by the Rl 2 ER

Group 20,656 - - - 20,656

30535 41,659 5,263 3,067 80,524
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

P ERRMFE(E)

25.

26.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’value.

The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the period ended 30 June
2024 and year ended 31 December 2023.

Capital of the Group comprises all components of shareholders’

equity.

APPROVAL OF THE INTERIM FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The interim financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 20 August 2024.

25. B ERERE B FERBEEK (&)

26.

EXEH

FEBEREB I EZENERRE
AEBRBELEZRENLHFIREE
REE AXRHEEBRBBERE K
RAMEE-

AEERBEERR 2 EELIFAE
EzEBREE THEHLEEER
EELREDAE - ASBEATURBAR
BEHBRREEZRE MBRREESR
AEITHRY - MRS A E ARG -
HE-_Z-_WFA=Z+HBILHE X
HEZZTZ-_=F+A=+—HLHF
BN ARBEZEAERERERE  BEX
TR fmeE i o

AEE 2 EAHABRRER T DA

it o 2 B B R R

EFEeRr T _MENA-_THHE
R ETI S IS HEK o
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 30 June 2024, the interests of the directors and chief executive in the
share capital and underlying shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQ")), as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

Other Information

Hib&E*

EERTBRARRKRG KEER S
ZREBERAXR

REZZE-MFRA=+H SEERTHE
HRARRREREZE (T AES KB
EIEG) ([FEHREEEG]) SEXVER) Z A
NABBROFHEARRAREES X
BIEPIEIRIERTERE 2 B M ATat ik
RBFELTETAEZERETELSRINE
HESFRIBITHE AR R KRBT 2 RN T

ERAREBRZHR

Number of shares held,
capacity and nature of interest

FEROBE - SoRERNE

Percentage

of the

Directly Through Company'’s

beneficially controlled issued

Note owned corporation Total share capital

EARRDT

Name of director and BEER HiE EiB ERITRAE

chief executive THRARKR b BEREE ZEHLF wmy Bt

Directors =

Ir.Ng Cheung Shing SEBALLETREMN @ 6,724,000 114,614,000 121,338,000 4953

Mr. Cheung Wai Lam SRR LA 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 0.41

Mr. Leung King San Sunny 25 ¥15%c 4 1,030,000 - 1,030,000 0.42

Mr. Ng Kwok Keung REIEEAE 300,000 - 300,000 0.12
Chief executive THRER

Mr. Chung Kin Yip ERFELA 240,000 - 240,000 0.10

9,294,000 114,614,000 123,908,000 50.58

—EERHRE [N AGEEERAR
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Other Information (continued)

Hib &R (F

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND EERTHRAEAZRRG R EEBERG

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING 2R RKRE (&)
SHARES (CONTINUED)
Long positions in shares of an associated corporation: R—EEBEEIERDZHE :
Percentage
Number of shares of the
RGBE associated
Name of Relationship Directly Through corporation’s
associated with the Class of beneficially controlled issued share
Name of director corporation Company shares owned corporation capital
R AL
B g EETRA
EEpA B EE AR BANFZHHE R ER BE&EE SEEHAR BAlt
Ir.Ng Cheung Shing Computer And Company's subsidiary Non-voting 1,750,000 3,250,000 N/A
REBRETREM Technologies KARZHBAAE deferred (Note {7 (b)) TER
International ERFERL
Limited
HEAGBRARA
Notes: B EE -

(@) The 114,614,000 shares were held by Chao Lien Technologies Limited (“Chao  (a)  C.S. (BVI) Limited 2 2 & [fi B A Al B H Rl 5 A

Lien”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of C.S. (BVI) Limited. Ir. Ng Cheung Shing PR AR (B35 ) #5458 114,614,000 (KA 17 - R
was entitled to exercise or control the exercise of one-third or more of the KRS TR A CS. (BVI) Limited 2 %
voting power at general meetings of C.S. (BVI) Limited, which in turn was RARG F1TESIFEHITE=S 22—k E
entitled to exercise or control the exercise of one-third or more of the voting Z R EZERE - M CS. (BVI) Limited Bl 5 1 7 5 B
power at general meetings of Chao Lien. Accordingly, Ir. Ng Cheung Shing BRAE LITEHESNTE=2 22—k
was deemed, under the SFO, to be interested in all shares held by Chao Lien. HEE#E - Al - REBLHNMBEKRD - R

EBEETRMBRSRNBYMATE M
BB HEEER

(b)  The 3,250,000 non-voting deferred shares were held by Chao Lien. (b) 743,250,000 JE L REFEIER DR EHFE -

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2024, none of the directors and ~ F¢ EXHEEIN HR_ZF-_WF<A=+H -
chief executive had registered an interest or short position in the shares £ % = [ 17 B 42 £ 7 AN A 7 8 H AT ] 47
or underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations  H# A E 2 B (7 sk ARBER (D P » BEA R IEE FH
that was required to be recorded pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, oras N Hi & 5] 53521678 T2 é% - siiBE
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuantto T AZE FETELF X HMEZESTH BT
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers. MERRRRERT 2 ERIOAE °
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Restricted share award scheme” below,
at no time during the period were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a restricted share award scheme (the “Award
Scheme”) on 22 May 2008 and renewed the Award Scheme on 31 May
2017 (the “Renewed Date”). Pursuant to the Award Scheme, shares of
the Company (the “Awarded Shares”) are granted to eligible employees
(including directors) of the Group until the 10™ anniversary from the
Renewed Date. The Company shall also pay cash to the appointed trustee
company for its acquisition and holding upon trust of the Awarded Shares
for the benefit of these employees and directors. The Awarded Shares
will then be transferred to these employees and directors upon vesting.
The aggregate number of shares to be awarded under the Award Scheme
throughout its duration shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time or such other percentage as notified
to them by the Board (provided that the overall limit on the number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under any other incentive and under the
Award Scheme must not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time).

The Award Scheme shall be effective from the Renewed Date and shall
continue in full force and effect for a term of 10 years unless sooner
terminated as determined by the Board of Directors, The Award Scheme
is to expire on 31 May 2027.

Details of the Award Scheme and the shares awarded thereunder are set
out in the Annual Report 2023.

—EERHRE [N AGEEERAR

Other Information (continued)

Hib &R ()

EEREROIES 2ER

BN TABR S By 2Rt 8] — 6 R &
S RAHAR AR - SIER TEME
FYURERBZEBARKFEFRAER
ARRBIRD K ESFME R 2 EH - S E
TAZERNERRETE  AAFHEL
B AR B E LR AEEEHE
BAEMEMEABERZENMZE -

BRI 0 R BT 8

KARR-_ZEZNFRA-_+_BEMNE
PR &I (0 RENET &) ([HENFTED) R =
—tFRA=+—HEZEEBRH) EEZ
HREEET S - IRIFEEENFTE - ANQFIRRD (T8
BRm]) EEEABREETRAF LR TA
SEGEREE (BREES) - AQFNE
MEEXTARBARAZSRERE
ENBUNEARAFTERERS kA E
SHRE  BEROHEREREBERERS
ZEBBRERES - ZEEFEIBEANE
FREZBRMNBE  THEZREARBTER
BITRE10% N ESTSANSHE 2B BEAM
Aot (BTR 2R (A E fh 22 ) K 42 Ehat
HEREHERTENFEBREREITER
AFETIRNBE 2 BEBREIT GBS
AR BTG 2 30%) °

HEREEEEARER  BRIEESGR
TERATARIE - B RISRENET BG4 B S 1 5 5
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Other Information (continued)

Hib &R ()

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The following table illustrates the number and movements of the

B PR A7 R R 8 ()
TRHFIBE T MFNA=1 B LR

Awarded Shares under the Award Scheme for the period ended 30 June W% 22BN EITE [ 2EENILD ~ B R E &) -
2024.
Number of Unvested Awarded Shares
AEREBROHE
Closing price
of the shares
immediately
before
Transferred Fairvalue the dateon
At in/(out) Vested At ofawards  which the
Name of category ~ 1January  during the during 30 June atthedate awardswere
of participant 2024 period  the period 2024 Award date Vesting period of Awarded Shares of grant granted
R R RY&R
SRERS b 1 B i1 |3 RT®EA AHH-X
FrB &5 -B-B E)/(#) CBBE #A=tH RHEEAH KEROBES HATE ROUNE
HKS HKS
V-7 AT
Directors
gz
Ir.Ng Cheung Shing 100,000 - (50,000) 50,000 6June 2022 30June 2023 to 30 June 2025 224 260
RRBLETES “2-CFRRRH “EZ=FRR=1HE
ZECREAAZTH
Ir.Ng Cheung Shing 100,000 - - 100,000 28 September 2023 30 April 2026 to 30 April 2027 192 212
RRBLAETER ZECZERAZTI\R T EMA=TRE
B ;31 s =
Mr.Ng Kwok Keung 100,000 - (50,000) 50,000 6June 2022 30 June 2023 t0 30 June 2025 224 260
E%ﬁ%é 7——¢/\H/\H —i— g/\ﬂ -I_E:t
ZECRERA=TH
Mr.Ng Kwok Keung 100,000 - - 100,000 28 September 2023 30 April 2026 to 30 April 2027 192 212
RERRE ZECZEAACTIR _7_7@% THE
ZEZtFMA=TH
Chief executive
THER
Mr. Chung Kin Yip 240,000 - - 240,000 28 September 2023 30 September 2024 to 30 September 2026 192 212
ERERE ZBRIZEARCZTNA “ECMEAR=TRE
ZEINENAZTH
Sub-total
it 640,000 - (100000) 540,000
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Other Information (continued)

Hih&ER (&)
RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED) BRFIR M REEE (8
Number of Unvested Awarded Shares
ABRRBROHE
Closing price
of the shares
immediately
before
Transferred Fairvalue the dateon
At in/(out) Vested At ofawards  whichthe
Nameof category ~ 1January  during the during 30June atthedate awards were
of participant 2024 period  the period 2024 Award date Vesting period of Awarded Shares of grant granted
i R RYER
SRERS ZBIpE B B ZBopf BTHREA AHA-X
FrR &R -A-B BA/(f) EBE #RA=tA RERBAH RERHERS WATE ROUHE
HKS HKS
V-7 AT
Two top-paid individuals (excluding Directors and the Chief Executive)
MURSHEHOEA ESRIETRARRN)
In aggregate - 20,000 (20,000) - 4 July 2019 30June 2020 to 30 June 2024 3 377
aif —Z-nEtARA ZSZSERAZTRHE
ZECMERA=TH
In aggregate 140,000 (60,000) (70,000) 10,000 6June 2022 30 June 2023 to 30 June 2025 224 260
At kSt 292 Y= ZEZZERRAZTHE
ZECRERAZTR
Inaggregate 60,000 - - 60,000 28 September 2023 30 April 2026 to 30 April 2027 192 212
aif ZECZEAACTIR ZEIAENA=TRE
ZECtEMA=TH
Sub-total
et 200000 (40000)  (90,000) 70,000
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Other Information (continued)

Hi &R (&
RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED) BERER MBS (&)
Number of Unvested Awarded Shares
AEREBROHE
Closing price
of the shares
immediately
before
Transferred Fairvalue the dateon
At in/(out) Vested At ofawards  which the
Name of category ~ 1January  during the during 30June atthedate awardswere
of participant 2024 period  the period 2024 Award date Vesting period of Awarded Shares of grant granted
R R RT%E
SRERS b e B i1 |2 RT®EA AHA-X
FrB &5 -B-B E\/(#) BB #A=tH REEEAH REROBES HATE ROUNE
HKS HKS
V-7 AT
Other employees
EftEg
In aggregate 44,000 (20,000) (24,000) - 4 July 2019 30June 2020 to 30 June 2024 3N 377
ait “E-NETAEA “ZCZERAZTRE
ZEINERA=TH
Inaggregate 440,000 60,000 (220,000) 280,000 6June 2022 30 June 2023 t0 30 June 2025 224 260
EH k- Sauda 7292 Y= ZSZ=EXA=TRHE
ZECRERA=TH
In aggregate 260,000 - - 260,000 28 September 2023 30 September 2024 to 30 September 2026 192 212
At ZEZZERAZT\R il e
ZEINENACTH
Inaggregate 50,000 - - 50,000 28 September 2023 30 April 2026 to 30 April 2027 192 212
aif ZEZ=FAAZTN\A ZEZAENA=TRE
ZEZtFMA=TH
Sub-total
it 794000 40000 (244,000) 590,000
Total
st 1,634,000 - (4340000 1,200,000
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Other Information (continued)

Hib &R ()

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHERPERSONS’ FERENHEHMA L (HEIFAQTE
(NOT BEING A DIRECTOR OR CHIEF EXECUTIVEOFTHE EZH{THEAR) NEHOREBRKR® 2
COMPANY) INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING =

SHARES

As at 30 June 2024, the following interests of more than 5% of the issued R Z_Z_PUF A =+H LA TAXRAFA
share capital and share options of the Company were recorded in the 8RR EIRIE B H LS IE0IE 336 1558 T
register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuantto F & Z R E L MARMEAR A B ZETRA

section 336 of the SFO: NMEBRE 5% DA 2 fEES
Long positions: #E:
Percentage
of the
Number of Company's Number
Capacity and nature ordinary  issued share of share
Name of shareholder of the Company  Notes of interest shares held capital  options held
EARRE
il BRIRE Fr¥s
ARARRERE LB it SFoREHEME EEREE Bolk  BREHE
Chao Lien Technologies Limited (@)  Directly beneficially owned 114,614,000 46.79 -
EE R AR QA BERERER
CS. (BVI) Limited (@)  Through a controlled corporation 114,614,000 46.79 -

BB AT

Puttney Investments Limited (“PIL") (b)  Directly beneficially owned 29,148,938 11.90 -
BERERER
Hutchison International Limited (“"HIL") (b)  Through a controlled corporation 29,148,938 11.90 -

B AT

Hutchison Whampoa Limited (“HWL") (b)  Through a controlled corporation 29,148,938 11.90 -
MEBBARIR(ME]D FRZEHIRA

Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited (“CKH") ~ (b)  Through a controlled corporation 29,148,938 11.90 -
RIGEERBERAR ([RE]) FBXEHIRA

CK Hutchison Holdings Limited (“CKHH") ~ (b)  Through a controlled corporation 29,148,938 11.90 -
RINCEXZARAF (TR FBZEHIRA

Hui Yau Man Directly beneficially owned 26,782,000 10.93 =
FFHX BERERER
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Other Information (continued)

Hib &R ()

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER PERSONS’
(NOT BEING A DIRECTOR OR CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE
COMPANY) INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (CONTINUED)

Long positions: (continued)
Notes:

(@)  The interest was also disclosed as an interest of Ir. Ng Cheung Shing in the
section “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares” of this report.

(b)  PIL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HIL, which in turn is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of HWL. CKH is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CKHH and
subsidiaries of CKH are entitled to exercise or control the exercise of more
than one-third of the voting power at the general meetings of HWL. By virtue
of the SFO, CKHH, CKH, HWL and HIL were deemed to be interested in the
29,148,938 shares of the Company held by PIL.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2024, no person, other than
the directors and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are
set out in the section “Directors’ and chief executive's interests and
short positions in shares and underlying shares” above, had registered
an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded under section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the period, a subsidiary of the Company purchased 2,064,000
shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for an aggregate
consideration of HK$4,752,000 and these shares were cancelled or will be
subsequently cancelled by the Company. The summary details of those
transactions are as follows:

TERRRAEMAL (EFAQRE
ERTHAR) RRORAERERND 2
R ()

@ %%Eﬁ?ﬂ?‘ﬁéﬁﬁ&%(%%&ﬁﬁ%@ﬁﬁé%@
Rk 2 #Em kAR —SHRRELRR
EH%%EIEEWZ*E“ °

(b) PILBHLZzZEMEBAR  HLAIAMEZ
2EMBRAR - RIEARMZ2EHBAR
MRZEZWB AR BRRMEZRIRE
BETESESTEBR= D2 —HIRERE
HREBSLBEEKERY B RIZ - -MEK
HIL 1% 47 1E 74 PIL AT 43 29,148,938 i% 7K /1A & %
mHhEEER -

M EHEEN N -_mWESA=+H "
BREEZHN EXIEERITRAZH N KRS
MEBRO ZEERAR | — 2 ARRE
BERITHBHIN  BEEMATRERRFR
HEBEARNFHEEREZES KBEED
F336FBTERIERIAE °

BE BORHEAXART LTRSS

A ARal—HEHEBRRNEBBAR
ST AR AR LA 481 E4,752,0008 T E
2,064,000 [ it - MzERMELHEE
i RERSHIMENT -

% ] x

Price per share

Number of shares SkREHK
repurchased Highest Lowest Total price paid
Month B % BERaEE BS BIK ERNEE
HKS HKS HKS000
BT BT TFET
January 2024 —ZFTZNFE—HA 614,000 2.55 2.45 1,548
March 2024 —E-WMF=A 612,000 2.25 2.16 1,356
April 2024 ZZEZFY A 426,000 2.28 2.22 958
May 2024 —ZT_ERA 184,000 2.22 2.22 409
June 2024 —E_FRA 228,000 2.15 2.10 481
2,064,000 4,752
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

The purchase of the Company’s shares during the period was effected by
the directors, pursuant to the mandate from shareholders received at the
last annual general meeting, with a view to benefiting shareholders as a
whole by enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per share
of the Group.

Except as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of corporate
governance within a sensible framework with an emphasis on the
principles of integrity, transparency and accountability. The Board
believes that good corporate governance is essential to the success of the
Company and to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

The Board opined that the Company has complied with the code
provision set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG code”) as
stipulated in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) during
the reporting period.

The Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that its corporate governance practices are similar to those
provided in the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 of
the Listing Rules as its code of conduct for dealings in securities of the
Company by the directors. Based on a specific enquiry of the Company’s
directors, the directors have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code throughout the six months ended 30 June 2024.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Group has established an effective risk governance and management
framework in line with the requirements set out by the Listing Rules
and other regulations. This framework was built around a structure
that enables the Board and the management to discharge their risk
management-related responsibilities with appropriate delegation as
well as checks and balances. These responsibilities included defining
risk appetite in accordance with the Group’s business strategies and
objectives, formulating risk policies that govern the execution of those
strategies, and establishing procedures and limits for the approval,
control, monitoring and remedy of risks.
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RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK (CONTINUED)

The members of the Risk Management Committee positioned at the
highest level of the Group’s risk governance structure under the Board.
Members included three executive directors and one independent
non-executive director. The Risk Management Committee had direct
involvements in formulating the Group’s risk appetite, and determined
the levels of risk that the Group is willing to undertake with reference to
its financial capacity, strategic direction, prevailing market conditions and
regulatory requirements.

The Risk Management Committee will continuously ensure the Group’s
risk appetite is realistically reflected in the policies and procedures
that the management adopted in executing its business functions.
The Risk Management Committee will regularly review the Group’s risk
management framework and ensure that all important risk-related tasks
are performed according to established policies and with appropriate
resources.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purpose of
reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial reporting
process, risk management and internal controls. As of 30 June 2024,
the Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors of the Company. The interim condensed consolidated financial
statements for the six months ended 30 June 2024 have not been
audited, but the Audit Committee has discussed with the management
of the Company and the external auditors, Ernst & Young, on the
appropriateness and consistency of the accounting policies that have
been adopted by the Company. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
interim results and the interim report of the Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2024.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’'INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the change in information
of the Company’s director is set out below.

Mr. Ting Leung Huel Stephen has retired as an independent non-
executive director of Tong Ren Tang Technologies Company Limited
(stock code: 1666) on 12 June 2024.

Ms. Chan Yuen Shan Clara has been appointed as a member of the Listing
Review Committee of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (stock
code: 0388) on 5 July 2024.
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